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PART 1. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

 

UNITIL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS
(000's except common shares and per share data)

(UNAUDITED)

 Three Months Ended
June 30,

 Six Months Ended
June 30,

 2001  2000  2001  2000
Operating Revenues        
  Electric $41,589 $38,778 $94,902 $77,736
  Gas 3,952 4,105 15,034 11,425
  Other 78 25 173 64
    Total Operating Revenues 45,619 42,908 110,109 89,225
        
Operating Expenses        
  Fuel and Purchased Power 29,567 26,785 69,738 52,638
  Gas Purchased for Resale 2,227 2,256 9,869 6,308
  Operation and Maintenance 5,439 6,023 12,629 12,192
  Depreciation and Amortization 3,203 3,021 6,569 6,061
  Provisions for Taxes:        
    Local Property and Other 1,289 1,245 2,676 2,622
    Federal and State Income 678 548 1,681 1,916
      Total Operating Expenses 42,403 39,878 103,162 81,737
Operating Income 3,216 3,030 6 947 7,488
    Non-Operating Expenses, Net 42 84 88 133
Income Before Interest Expense 3,174 2,946 6 859 7,355
    Interest Expense, Net 1,722 1,719 3,401 3,464
Net Income 1,452 1,227 3,458 3,891
    Less Dividends on Preferred Stock 64 66 131 133
Net Income Applicable to Common Stock $1,388 $1,161 $3,327 $3,758



        
Average Common Shares Outstanding 4,743,415 4,720,178 4,740,564 4,717,359

        
Basic Earnings Per Share $0.29 $0.25 $0.70 $0.80

        
Diluted Earnings Per Share $0.29 $0.24 $0.70 $0.79

        
Dividends Declared Per Share        
of Common Stock (Note 1) $0.345 $0.345 $1.035 $1.035

 (The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.)

 

 

 

 

UNITIL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (000's)

 

 (UNAUDITED)  (AUDITED)

 June 30,  December 31,

 2001  2000  2000
ASSETS:      
      
Utility Plant:      
  Electric $178,533 $166,473 $173,883
  Gas 38,312 35,273 36,996
  Common 21,333 21,150 21,602
  Construction Work in Progress 3,376 3,207 1,844
Total Utility Plant 241,554 226,103 234,325
  Less:    Accumulated Depreciation 74,880 68,518 71,036
Net Utility Plant 166,674 157,585 163,289
      
Other Property and Investments 5,984 6,338 8,740

      
Current Assets:      
  Cash 5,196 3,002 3,060
  Accounts Receivable - Less Allowance for      
    Doubtful Accounts of $579, $589 and $596 21,535 17,274 20,057
  Refundable Taxes 670 (152) 1,980
  Materials and Supplies 2,803 2,321 2,854
  Prepayments 1,557 1,362 1,317
  Accrued Revenue 1,444 2,402 8,602
      Total Current Assets 33,205 26,209 37,870
      
      
      
Noncurrent Assets:      
  Regulatory Assets 133,515 139,799 137,470
  Prepaid Pension Costs 10,334 9,578 9,996
  Debt Issuance Costs 1,774 1,325 1,479
  Other Noncurrent Assets 33,123 24,392 24,123
      Total Noncurrent Assets 178,746 175,094 173,068
      
TOTAL $384,609 $365,226 $382,967

 (The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.)

 

 

 

 

UNITIL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (Cont.) (000's)



 

 (UNAUDITED)  (AUDITED)

 June 30,  December 31,

 2001  2000  2000
CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES:      
      
Capitalization:      
      
Common Stock Equity $78,788 $77,973 $79,935
Preferred Stock, Non-Redeemable, Non-Cumulative 225 225 225
Preferred Stock, Redeemable, Cumulative 3,465 3,465 3,465
Long-Term Debt, Less Current Portion 107,568 81,864 81,695
      Total Capitalization 190,046 163,527 165,320
      
      
Current Liabilities:      
  Long-Term Debt, Current Portion 3,232 3,199 3,207
  Capitalized Leases, Current Portion 921 850 935
  Accounts Payable 21,120 13,771 18,539
  Short-Term Debt 6,300 16,700 32,500
  Dividends Declared and Payable 1,819 1,841 209
  Refundable Customer Deposits 1,307 1,282 1,252
  Interest Payable 1,375 1,150 1,150
  Other Current Liabilities 6,774 6,550 6,377
      Total Current Liabilities 42,848 45,343 64,169
      
Deferred Income Taxes 49,854 42,883 45,859

      
Noncurrent Liabilities:     
  Power Supply Contract Obligations 93,061 101,763 97,342
  Capitalized Leases, Less Current Portion 2,802 3,447 3,259
  Other Noncurrent Liabilities 5,998 8,263 7,018
      Total Noncurrent Liabilities 101,861 113,473 107,619
      
TOTAL $364,609 $365,226 $382,967

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.)

 

 

 

 

UNITIL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (000'S)

(UNAUDITED)

 

 Six Months Ended June 30,

 2001  2000
Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities:    
  Net Income $3,458 $3,891
  Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Cash    
    Provided by Operating Activities:    
    Depreciation and Amortization 6,569 6,061
    Deferred Taxes Provision 788 430
    Amortization of Investment Tax Credit (76) (128)
    Amortization of Debt Issuance Costs 31 30
  Changes in Working Capital:    
    Accounts Receivable (1,478) (644)
    Materials and Supplies 51 182
    Prepayments (578) (1,108)
    Accrued Revenue 7,158 (140)
    Accounts Payable 2,581 (2,744)
    Refundable Customer Deposits 55 (20)
    Taxes and Interest Payable 1,535 1,476
  Other changes in assets and liabilities, net (4,836) 1,449
        Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 15,258 8,735



  
Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities:  
    Acquisition of Property, Plant and Equip. (9,010) (9,843)
    Proceeds from Sale of Electric Generation Assets 342 ----
    Acquisition of Other Property and Investments (535) (238)
        Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (9,203) (10,081)
  
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:    
    Net Increase (Decrease) in Short-Term Debt (26,200) 6,200
    Proceeds from Issuance of Long-Term Debt 29,000 ---
    Repayment of Long-Term Debt (3,102) (1,094)
    Dividends Paid (3,427) (3,394)
    Issuance of Common Stock 281 322
    Retirement of Preferred Stock ---- (68)
    Repayment of Capital Lease Obligations (471) (465)
        Net Cash Flows Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities (3,919) 1,501
Net Increase in Cash 2,136 155
Cash at Beginning of Period 3,060 2,847
Cash at End of Period $5,196 $3,002
Supplemental Cash Flow Information:    
  Cash Paid for:    
    Interest Paid $4,412 $4,103
    Federal Income Taxes Paid $0 $350

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.)

 

 

 

 

UNITIL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(UNAUDITED)

 

Note 1.

Reclassifications:

In the opinion of the Company, the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements contain all adjustments (consisting only of normal
recurring accruals) necessary to present fairly the consolidated financial position as of June 30, 2001 and 2000; and results of operations for the
three and six months ended June 30, 2001 and 2000; and consolidated statements of cash flows for the three and six months ended June 30,
2001 and 2000.

Reclassifications are made periodically to amounts previously reported to conform to current year presentation.

The results of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2001 and 2000 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full
year.

Note 2.

Dividends Declared Per Share:

Three regular quarterly common stock dividends were declared during the six-month periods ended June 30, 2001 and 2000.

Common Stock Dividend:

On June 28, 2001, the Company's Board of Directors declared its regular quarterly dividend on the Company's Common Stock of $0.345 per
share, which is payable on August 15, 2001 to shareholders of record as of August 1, 2001.

On March 15, 2001, the Company's Board of Directors declared its regular quarterly dividend on the Company's Common Stock of $0.345 per
share, which was paid on May 15, 2001 to shareholders of record as of May 1, 2001.

On January 16, 2001, the Company's Board of Directors declared its regular quarterly dividend on the Company's Common Stock of $0.345 per
share, which was paid on February 15, 2001 to shareholders of record as of February 1, 2001.

Note 3.

Common Stock:

During the second quarter of 2001, the Company sold 5,622 shares of Common Stock, at an average price of $25.43 per share, in connection with
its Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan. Net proceeds of $142,973 were used to reduce short-term borrowings.

 

Note 4



Preferred Stock:

Details on preferred stock at June 30, 2001, June 30, 2000 and December 31, 2000 are shown below:

(Amounts in Thousands)

 June 30,  December 31,

 2001  2000  2000
Preferred Stock:      
  Non-Redeemable, Non-Cumulative,      
    6%, $100 Par Value $225 $225 $225
  Redeemable, Cumulative,      
    $100 Par Value:      
    8.70% Series 215 215 215
    5% Dividend Series 91 91 91
    6% Dividend Series 168 168 168
    8.75% Dividend Series 333 333 333
    8.25% Dividend Series 385 385 385
    5.125% Dividend Series 973 973 973
    8% Dividend Series 1,300 1,300 1,300
      Total Redeemable Preferred Stock 3,465 3,465 3,465
        Total Preferred Stock $3,690 $3,690 $3,690

Note 5.

Long-term Debt:

Details on long-term debt at June 30, 2001, June 30, 2000 and December 31, 2000 are shown below:

(Amounts in Thousands)

 June 30,  December 31,

 2001  2000  2000

      
Concord Electric Company:      
  First Mortgage Bonds:      
Series I, 8.49%, due October 14, 2024 6,000 6,000 6,000
Series J, 6.96%, due September 1, 2028 10,000 10,000 10,000
Series K, 8.00%, due May 1, 2031 7,500 --- ---

      
Exeter & Hampton Electric Company:      
  First Mortgage Bonds:      
Series K, 8.49%, due October 14, 2024 9,000 9,000 9,000
Series L, 6.96%, due September 1, 2028 10,000 10,000 10,000
Series M, 8.00%, due May 1, 2031 7,500 --- ---

      
Fitchburg Gas and Electric Light Company:      
  Promissory Notes:      
8.55% Notes due March 31, 2004 9,000 12,000 12,000
6.75% Notes due November 30, 2023 19,000 19,000 19,000
7.37% Notes due January 15, 2029 12,000 12,000 12,000
7.98% Notes due June 1, 2031 14,000 --- ---

      
Unitil Realty Corp.      
  Senior Secured Notes:      
8.00% Notes Due August 1, 2017 6,800 7,063 6,902

      
      
Total 110,800 85,063 84,902
Less: Installments due within one year 3,232 3,199 3,207

      
Total Long-term Debt $107,568 $81,864 $81,695

 

 

Note 6.

Segment Information:

 



The following table provides significant segment financial data for the three and six months ended June 30, 2001 and 2000:

Three Months Ended June 30, 2001 (000's) Electric Gas Common Usource Eliminations Total
Revenues       
    External Customers $41,588 $3,952 $7 $72 $45,619
    Intersegment ---- ---- 5,048 ---- (5,048) ----
Depreciation and Amortization 2,391 401 494 (83) 3,203
Interest, net 1,113 394 254 (39) 1,722
Income Taxes 685 18 55 (80) 678
Segment Profit (loss) 1,699 (245) 90 (156) 1,388
Identifiable Segment Assets 294,473 89,779 25,458 1,522 (26,623) 384,609
Capital Expenditures 2349 209 255 234 3,047
       
Three Months Ended June 30, 2000 (000's)       
Revenues       
    External Customers $38,878 $4,105 ($92) $17 $42,908
    Intersegment ---- ---- 4,755 ---- (4,755) ----
Depreciation and Amortization 2,202 377 373 69 3,021
Interest, net 1,171 382 154 12 1,719
Income Taxes 623 154 (168) (61) 548
Segment Profit (loss) 1,790 (142) (92) (395) 1,161
Identifiable Segment Assets 272,335 86,173 22,223 2,891 (18,396) 365,226
Capital Expenditures 3,686 783 127 951 5,547

       
Six Months Ended June 30, 2001 (000's)       
Revenues       
    External Customers $94,901 $15,034 $15 $159 $110,109
    Intersegment ---- ---- 10,072 ---- (10,072) ----
Depreciation and Amortization 4,803 802 839 125 6,569
Interest, net 2,180 775 449 (3) 3,401
Income Taxes 1,496 455 95 (365) 1,681
Segment Profit (loss) 3,428 457 141 (699) 3,327
Identifiable Segment Assets 294,473 89,779 25,458 1,522 (26,623) 384,609
Capital Expenditures 7,012 1,661 337 535 9,545
       
Six Months Ended June 30, 2000 (000's)        
Revenues       
    External Customers $77,736 $11,425 $15 $49 $89,225
    Intersegment ---- ---- 9,516 ---- (9,516) ----
Depreciation and Amortization 4,434 754 752 121 6,061
Interest, net 2,400 749 291 24 3,464
Income Taxes 1,729 493 (104) (202) 1,916
Segment Profit (loss) 3,927 510 8 (687) 3,758
Identifiable Segment Assets 272,335 86,173 22,223 2,891 (18,396) 365,226
Capital Expenditures 7,019 1,288 225 1,549 10,081

 

 

Note 7.

REGULATORY MATTERS

The Unitil System of Companies is regulated by various federal and state agencies, including the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), the
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC), and state regulatory authorities with jurisdiction over the utility industry, including the New
Hampshire Public Utilities Commission (NHPUC) and the Massachusetts Department of Telecommunications and Energy (MDTE). In recent years,
there has been significant legislative and regulatory activity to introduce greater competition in the supply and sale of electricity and gas, while
continuing to regulate the delivery and distribution operations of our utility subsidiaries.

Massachusetts enacted the Electric Restructuring Act of 1997 (the "Restructuring Act") requiring the comprehensive restructuring of the electric
utility industry in the state. Since March 1, 1998, all electric consumers in Massachusetts served by investor-owned utilities have had the ability to
choose their electric energy supplier. FG&E, the Company's Massachusetts utility operating subsidiary, continues to implement its comprehensive
electric Restructuring Plan and has completed the divestiture of its entire regulated power supply business, including its nuclear investment (See
Sale of Millstone Unit 3 below).

Since 1997, FG&E has worked in collaboration with the other Massachusetts gas distribution utilities and various other stakeholders to develop
and implement the infrastructure to offer gas customers choice of their competitive gas energy supplier and to complete the restructuring of gas
service provided by gas utilities. FG&E filed with the MDTE new gas tariffs to implement natural gas unbundling in accordance with Model Terms
and Conditions resulting from these collaborative efforts. The MDTE issued an Order approving these tariffs and final regulations effective
November 1, 2000.

In New Hampshire, CECo and E&H, the Company's electric distribution operating subsidiaries, and Unitil Power Corp., the Company's wholesale
power supply company, continue to prepare for the transition to a new market structure, pending resolution of certain key restructuring policies and
issues. The Company has also been an active participant in the restructuring of the wholesale power market and transmission system in New



England. New wholesale markets have been implemented in the New England Power Pool (NEPOOL) under the general supervision of an
Independent System Operator (ISO).

Massachusetts Electric Restructuring  - On January 15, 1999, the MDTE approved FG&E's Electric Restructuring Plan with certain
modifications. The Restructuring Plan provides customers with: a) the ability to choose a competitive energy supplier; b) an option to purchase
Standard Offer Service or Default Service provided by FG&E; and c) a cumulative 15% rate reduction adjusted for inflation. The Order also
approved FG&E's power supply divestiture plan for its interest in three generating units and four long-term power supply contracts.

As a result of restructuring and divestiture of FG&E's entire generation and purchased power portfolio, FG&E has accelerated the write-off of its
electric generation assets and its abandoned investment in Seabrook Station. The MDTE established the return to be earned on the unamortized
balance of FG&E's generation plant, reducing FG&E's earnings on those assets. In 2000, Unitil's earnings from this business segment represented
approximately 16% of the earnings from utility operations. As this portfolio is amortized over the next 9 years, earnings from this segment of
FG&E's utility business will continue to decline and ultimately cease.

On December 22, 1999, FG&E filed with the MDTE the annual reconciliation and adjustment of its electric rates, for effect January 1, 2000, in
accordance with its Restructuring Plan (the "1999 Reconciliation Filing"). The revised rates maintain the required inflation-adjusted 15% rate
discount. The MDTE approved the rates on January 5, 2000, subject to an examination of the Company's filing in which it reconciles its estimated
and actual transition costs and other unbundled rate components.

On February 2, 2000, the MDTE initiated a proceeding to examine FG&E's 1999 Reconciliation Filing and the consistency of the proposed charges
and adjustments with the methods approved in FG&E's Restructuring Plan. The MDTE held four days of hearings in May 2000. During the
hearings, the Massachusetts Attorney General challenged FG&E's recovery of certain transition costs and other cost reconciliation. Management is
unable to determine the outcome of the MDTE proceedings. However, if an unfavorable outcome were to occur, there could be an adverse impact
on the Company's consolidated financial position.

On December 1, 2000, FG&E filed the annual reconciliation and adjustment of its electric rates, for effect January 1, 2001, in accordance with its
Restructuring Plan (the "2000 Reconciliation Filing"). The new rates maintain the required inflation-adjusted 15% rate discount. The MDTE
approved new rates on December 29, 2000, which resulted in an upward inflation adjustment in total electric rates of 3.5%. These rates are subject
to reconciliation in the future pursuant to the MDTE's pending investigation of the 1999 Reconciliation Fling and its review of the of actual and
estimated transition costs included in the 2000 Reconciliation Filing. The MDTE has not opened a formal investigation into the 2000 Reconciliation
Filing.

In August 2000, FG&E filed for an increase in its Standard Offer Service rates pursuant to its Restructuring Plan and the Fuel Adjustment provision
of its Standard Offer Service (SOS) tariff. This adjustment allows an increase in the SOS rate due to increases in an index pegged to the price of oil
and natural gas fuel, which is used in electric generation. Any revenues received as a result of this adjustment are passed on to the Company's all
requirements wholesale SOS energy provider. Subsequently, other electric utility companies operating in Massachusetts made similar filings. On
December 4, 2000, the MDTE issued an order authorizing a "fixed" fuel adjustment that is calculated based on the most recent 12 months of data.
These adjustments took effect on January 1, 2001. As a result, FG&E's SOS rate increased from $0.038/kWh to $0.05121/kWh.

In approving the new SOS rates, the MDTE directed all electric distribution companies to file a report on under recovered SOS cost balances by
July 1, 2001 to determine if an additional interim adjustment to the SOS rate is necessary. In May 2001, FG&E filed a report as directed by the
MDTE. As a result of this filing, the Company was granted an additional increase in the "fixed" fuel adjustment. This resulted in an increase in the
total SOS rate from $0.05121 per kWh to $0.06351 per kWh effective for the period from July 1, 2001 through December 2001

New customers, and customers who previously opted to take electric supply service from a competitive provider are not eligible for SOS, but they
may purchase their electric supply through FG&E under Default Service. FG&E provides the Default Service through a third party supplier at
market-based rates. The Company issued its first Request for Proposals for Default Service in September 2000. FG&E awarded a contract and
filed resulting rates, which were approved, effective for the period January through May 2001. The Company issued its second Request for
Proposals in March 2001. A contract was awarded and the resulting rates were approved effective for the period June through November 2001.

In June 2000, the MDTE opened an investigation into whether (1) metering, meter maintenance and testing, and customer billing and information
services (MBIS) should be unbundled; and (2) the service territories of distribution companies should remain exclusive. On December 29, 2000,
the MDTE issued its report recommending that the Legislature not take action to allow for the competitive provision of MBIS in the electric industry.
The MDTE also concluded that exclusive service territories should remain intact. Instead, the MDTE opened a proceeding to establish terms and
conditions by which utility distribution companies will install advanced metering equipment based on a finding that efforts along these lines will
likely yield substantial benefits to electricity consumers sooner than would competition. As a result of this proceeding, during March 2001, FG&E
and other utilities filed proposed tariffs for advanced metering and interval data service for consideration by the MDTE. New tariffs became eff
ective on July 1, 2001 in compliance with MDTE Orders.

On May 9, 2001, the MDTE opened Phase II of the MBIS proceeding to investigate how a supplier single-bill option may be made available to
customers and suppliers within the existing statutory and regulatory framework. In addition, the MDTE will examine whether modifications should
be made to the current partial payment rules. The Department held a technical session and received comments from interested parties in June and
July. In its comments, FG&E supports maintaining the current partial payment rules. Following its review of these comments, the MDTE will issue
rules and procedures for implementation by distribution companies of specific billing services to be offered to their customers and competitive
suppliers.

On June 11, 2001, the MDTE opened an investigation concerning the promulgation of rules for the disbursement of monies appropriated from the
Ratepayer Parity Trust Fund, established under Massachusetts G.L. c. 10, sec. 62. The Ratepayer Parity Trust Fund is funded by the personal and
corporate tax revenues attributable to the sale of assets under the Restructuring Act. Such funds are to be used to provide extraordinary
assistance in achieving the required rate reduction provided under the Restructuring Act. To date, no electric distribution company has requested
distribution from the monies held in this fund. The Department received comments from interested parties on specific questions delineated in its
order during June and July. After review of the comments, the Department may establish and publish a procedural schedule for a rulemaking.
FG&E filed comments indicating that disbursements from the Ratepayer Parity Trust should be used to reduce the burden on its customers, and
the customers of other utility companies similarly situated, of long-term deferred costs associated with the mandated 15% rate reduction of the
Restructuring Act.

On June 29, 2001, the MDTE issued an order opening an investigation into competitive market initiatives, with the intent to minimize or eliminate
any barriers to competitive choice. In its order, the MDTE identified initiatives to be implemented immediately by distribution companies, including
providing names and addresses of its Default Service customers to licensed competitive suppliers upon request and to establish a list of active
suppliers. Additional phases of the proceeding will address a comprehensive set of initiatives to ensure that competitive suppliers have appropriate
access to information regarding Default Service customers, participation of distribution companies in Internet-based auction processes, the manner
in which municipal aggregators may aggregate Default Service customers, providing distribution companies with the authority to obtain customer



authorization to switch Default Service customers to competitive suppliers, and finally, the issue of internet-based customer authorization s or
electronic signatures.

Massachusetts Gas Restructuring  - In mid-1997, the MDTE directed all Massachusetts natural gas Local Distribution Companies (LDCs) to
form a collaborative with other stakeholders to develop common principles and appropriate regulations for the unbundling of gas service, and
directed FG&E and four other LDCs to file unbundled gas rates for its review. FG&E's unbundled gas rates were filed with, and approved by, the
MDTE and implemented in November 1998.

On February 1, 1999, the MDTE issued an order in which it determined that the LDCs would continue to have an obligation to provide gas supply
and delivery services for another five years, with a review after three years. This order also set forth the MDTE's decision requiring mandatory
assignment by LDCs of their pipeline capacity contracts to competitive marketers.

On November 3, 1999, the Massachusetts LDCs filed Model Terms and Conditions for Gas Service, including provisions for capacity assignment,
peaking service, and Default Service. In accordance with the MDTE's approval of these Model Terms and Conditions in January 2000, FG&E filed
Company-specific tariffs that implement natural gas unbundling. The MDTE also opened a rulemaking proceeding on proposed regulations that
would govern the unbundling of services related to the provision of natural gas. The MDTE has issued an order approving the tariffs and final
regulations effective November 1, 2000.

New Hampshire Electric Restructuring  - On February 28, 1997, the NHPUC issued its Final Plan for New Hampshire electric utilities to
transition to a competitive electric market in the state (the "Final Plan"). The Final Plan linked the interim recovery of stranded cost by the State's
utilities to a comparison of their existing rates with the regional average utility rates. CECo's and E&H's rates are below the regional average; thus,
the NHPUC found that CECo and E&H were entitled to full interim stranded cost recovery, as defined by the NHPUC. However, the NHPUC also
made certain legal rulings, which could affect CECo's and E&H's long-term ability to recover all of their stranded costs.

Northeast Utilities' affiliate Public Service Company of New Hampshire (PSNH) filed suit in U.S. District Court for protection from the Final Plan and
related orders and was granted an indefinite stay. In June 1997, Unitil, and other utilities in New Hampshire, intervened as plaintiffs in the federal
court proceeding. In June 1998, the federal court clarified that the injunctions issued by the court in 1997 had effectively frozen the NHPUC's
efforts to implement restructuring. This amended injunction has been challenged by the NHPUC, and affirmed by the First Circuit Court of Appeals.
Unitil continues to be a plaintiff-intervenor in federal district court.

Unitil has continued to work actively to explore settlement options and to seek a fair and reasonable resolution of key restructuring policies and
issues in New Hampshire. The Company is also monitoring the regulatory and legislative proceedings dealing with electric restructuring in the
state. In October 2000, the NHPUC approved a settlement for the restructuring of PSNH, which settlement was implemented on May 1, 2001. Unitil
continues to work on a new restructuring proposal for its New Hampshire companies that will pave the way for competition in its service areas.

Other Regulatory Proceedings  - The last formal regulatory filings to increase base electric rates for Unitil's three retail operating subsidiaries
occurred in 1985 for CECo, 1984 for FG&E, and 1981 for E&H. A majority of the Company's operating revenues are collected under various
periodic rate adjustment mechanisms including fuel, purchased power, cost of gas, energy efficiency, and restructuring-related cost recovery
mechanisms. Industry restructuring will continue to change the methods of how certain costs are recovered through the Company's regulated rates
and tariffs.

Retail electricity prices for most New England utilities increased this past winter. At the start of 2001, wholesale natural gas prices reached record
levels in New England and across the United States in response to cold weather and tight supplies. As discussed above, FG&E has filed for and
received approval of two separate increases to its electric Standard Offer Service rate reflecting extraordinary increases in the price of oil and
natural gas. FG&E also received an increase to its Cost of Gas Adjustment resulting in bill increases of approximately 25%, effective November 1,
2000. FG&E subsequently received approval for another increase of approximately 20% to its Cost of Gas Adjustment for effect February 1, 2001.

Reflecting a moderation in natural gas prices, FG&E implemented a decrease to its Cost of Gas Adjustment for the summer period, effective May
1, 2001. In New Hampshire, CECo and E&H filed and received approval of increases to their Fuel and Purchased Power Adjustments, resulting in
bill increases of 25% to 34%, depending upon usage patterns, effective January 1, 2001. These higher fuel costs are a pass-through without
markup or profit. CECo and E&H recently filed for and received approval of rate decreases to their Fuel and Purchased Power Adjustments
effective August 1, 2001. These bill decreases of approximately 15% reflect reduced wholesale energy costs and minor changes in state tax policy
implemented earlier this year.

CECo, E&H and the Staff of the NHPUC entered into a Stipulation and Agreement to remove the Gross Receipts Franchise Tax from its rates and
include Business Profits Tax corresponding to changes in tax law. The Stipulation and Agreement, which is intended to keep CECo and E&H whole
with respect to changes in state tax law, was approved effective August 1, 2001.

On May 15, 1998, FG&E filed a gas base rate case with the MDTE. The last base rate case had been in 1984. After evidentiary hearings, the
MDTE issued an Order allowing FG&E to establish new rates, effective November 30, 1998, which would produce an annual increase of
approximately $1.0 million in gas revenues. As part of the proceeding, the Massachusetts Attorney General alleged that FG&E had overcollected
fuel inventory finance charges, and requested that the MDTE require FG&E to refund approximately $1.6 million of charges collected since 1987.
The Company believes that the Attorney General's claim is without merit and that a refund was not justified or warranted. The MDTE rejected the
Attorney General's request and stated its intent to open a separate proceeding to investigate the Attorney General's claim. On November 1, 1999,
the MDTE issued an Order of Notice initiating an investigation of this matter. Hearings were held in 2000 and following the evidentiary portion of
this proceeding the Company and the Attorney General filed legal briefs during March 2001. On May 31, 2001, the MDTE issued its order in this
proceeding finding that FG&E had over-collected the costs in its CGAC mechanism and ordered FG&E to return these costs, in the amount of
$675,052 plus accumulated and future interest, to customers over the same length period they were collected. On June 20, 2001, FG&E filed a
Motion to Stay Enforcement of the Department's Order and a Petition and Notice of Appeal. This case is currently pending. Management is unable
to predict the outcome of this proceeding but an unfavorable result could have an adverse impact on the Company's consolidated financial
position.

On December 31, 1999, the Massachusetts Attorney General filed a complaint against FG&E requesting that the MDTE investigate the distribution
rates, rate of return, and depreciation accrual rates for FG&E's electric operations in calendar year 1999. The MDTE opened a proceeding in
November 2000, held a public hearing and procedural conference in December 2000, and subsequently issued a procedural schedule covering the
period January through July 2001. Initial and reply briefs by the Company and the Attorney General have now been filed in this case. Any order
received from the MDTE would apply to the Company's rates prospectively and would not be retroactive. Management is unable to predict the
outcome of this proceeding but an unfavorable result could have an adverse impact on the Company's consolidated financial position.

Performance Based Ratemaking - On October 29, 1999, the MDTE initiated a proceeding to implement Performance Based Rate making (PBR)
for all electric and gas distribution utilities in Massachusetts. PBR is a method of setting regulated distribution rates that provide incentives for
utilities to control costs while maintaining a high level of service quality. Under PBR, a company's earnings are tied to performance targets, and
penalties can be imposed for deterioration of service quality. The MDTE issued an order in this proceeding on June 29, 2001. The order



establishes guidelines for implementation of service quality measurement programs by gas and electric companies operating under PBR. FG&E's
Gas Division has been preparing a PBR plan and was ordered to refrain from filing its plan until three months following the Department's PBR
order. FG&E's Service Quality plan, to be filed as part of its PBR filing, must comply with the guidelines established in this proceeding.

Sale of Millstone Unit 3 - On March 31, 2001, FG&E, along with the majority of other owners of the facility, completed the sale of its interest in the
Millstone Unit 3 Nuclear Generating Station to Dominion Nuclear Connecticut, Inc, a subsidiary of Dominion Resources, Inc. As a result of the sale,
FG&E completed the divestiture of its 2.5-megawatt interest in Millstone 3 and eliminated all potential future liabilities and contingencies related to
the nuclear facility, including environmental and decommissioning liabilities. The Company no longer maintains any ownership interest in nuclear
power generation assets.

 

 

 

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition

 

SAFE HARBOR CAUTIONARY STATEMENT

This report contains forward-looking statements which are subject to the inherent uncertainties in predicting future results and conditions. Certain
factors that could cause the actual results to differ materially from those projected in these forward-looking statements include, but are not limited
to; variations in weather, changes in the regulatory environment, customers' preferences on energy sources, general economic conditions,
increased competition and other uncertainties, all of which are difficult to predict, and many of which are beyond the control of the Company.

 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Diluted earnings per average common share were $0.29 for the second quarter of 2001, an increase of $0.05 per share from the second quarter of
2000. The Utility Operations segment contributed $0.33 per share to consolidated results, while the Usource segment lost $0.04 per share. Second
quarter losses from the Usource segment decreased by $0.04 per share over the same period of 2000. The Company refocused its Usource
operations to reduce spending and concentrate on brokering energy sales in the Northeast.

Sales (000's)        
 Three Months Ended    Six Months Ended   
kWh Sales 06/30/01 06/30/00 Change  06/30/01 06/30/00 Change
Residential 134,061 129,111 3.8% 301,888 292,947 3.1%
Commercial/Industrial 243,746 244,132 -0.2% 495,037 499,767 -0.9%
   Total kWh Sales 377,807 373,243 1.2% 796,925 792,714 0.5%

        
Firm Therm Sales         
Residential 2,377 2,413 -1.5% 8,180 7,939 3.0%
Commercial/Industrial 2,280 2,288 -0.3% 8,246 7,499 10.0%
   Total Firms Therm Sales 4,657 4,701 -0.9% 16,426 15,438 6.4%

        
        
Segment Information
($000's except per share
data) Three Months Ended - 6/30/01      Six Months Ended - 6/30/01

     

 Utility    Utility   
 Operations Usource Total  Operations Usource Total
Revenues $45,547 $72 $45,619 $109,950 $159 $110,109
Segment Profit 1,544 (156) 1,388 4,026 (699) 3,327
Diluted Earnings per Share $0.33 ($0.04) $0.29 $0.85 ($0.15) $0.70
        
 Three Months Ended - 6/30/00     Six Months Ended - 6/30/00    
 Utility    Utility   
 Operations Usource Total  Operations Usource Total
Revenues $42,891 $17 $42,908 $89,176 $49 $89,225
Segment Profit 1,556 (395) 1,161 4,445 (687) 3,758
Diluted Earnings per Share $0.32 ($0.08) $0.24 $0.93 ($0.14) $0.79

 

On a year to date basis, diluted earnings were $0.70 per share, a $0.09 decrease from the same period in 2000. Earnings per share from Utility
Operations for the first six-month period of 2001 were $0.08 lower than in the same period of 2000, while there was a $0.01 greater loss related to
Usource. The reduction in Utility Operations earnings primarily reflects the lower sales to Industrial customers, as well as increased Operations and
Maintenance expenses due to higher storm-related maintenance and other utility operating costs.

Total electric kilowatt-hour (kWh) sales volume increased 1.2% in the second quarter and 0.5% on a year-to-date basis. Residential sales
increased 3.8% in the second quarter and 3.1% for the six months ended June 30, a result of strong customer growth and colder weather in the
first half of 2001. Commercial and Industrial sales decreased 0.2% and 0.9% for the three- and six-month periods, respectively, reflecting
continued strong Commercial sales offset by a decrease in Industrial sales. The decrease in Industrial sales was due to the impact of a slowing
economy and a major customer discontinuing operations during the first quarter of 2000.



Electric revenues increased 7.2% and 22.1% for the three- and six-month periods of 2001, as compared to 2000. The change in electric revenues
was a result of increases in unit sales and, as discussed below, an increase in fuel prices compared to the prior year.

Total Firm Therm gas sales showed a decrease of 0.9% and an increase of 6.4% in the three- and six-month periods, respectively. This increase
reflects continued growth in our service territories and a colder winter heating season compared to the prior year. Gas revenues decreased by
3.7% in the second quarter compared to the prior year, but increased 31.6% on a year-to-date basis. The increase was a result of higher unit sales,
as well as increased gas supply prices.

During the first six months of 2001, Fuel and Purchased Power and Gas Purchased for Resale expenses increased 35.1% collectively over the
prior year, due to changes in sales volume and higher unit costs. Both electric and gas supply costs are collected from customers through periodic
cost recovery mechanisms and therefore, changes in these costs do not affect the Company's net income.

For the six months ended June 30, 2001, Operation and Maintenance (O&M) expenses increased 3.6%, reflecting higher O&M costs related to
Utility Operations, including activities to support the provision of Standard Offer and Default energy services in Massachusetts. These costs also
included storm trouble expenses and higher system maintenance expenses. The 8.4% increase in Depreciation and Amortization expenses during
the same period was due to the accelerated write-off of electric generating assets as a result of electric utility industry restructuring in
Massachusetts. Interest expense, net, was 1.8% lower in the first six months of 2001, reflecting lower borrowing rates and higher interest income
on cost deferrals related to industry restructuring in Massachusetts.

On March 31, 2001, the Company (along with the majority of other owners of the facility) completed the sale of its interest in the Millstone 3
Nuclear Generating Station to Dominion Nuclear Connecticut, Inc., a subsidiary of Dominion (NYSE: D). As a result of this sale, the Company's
Massachusetts-based utility subsidiary, Fitchburg Gas and Electric Light Company, completed the divestiture of its 2.5 megawatt interest in
Millstone 3 and eliminated all potential future liabilities and contingencies related to this nuclear facility, including environmental and
decommissioning liabilities. The sale resulted in cash proceeds of approximately $342,000. The unrecovered net Plant balance for Millstone 3 has
been recorded as a regulatory asset and approved by the MDTE for recovery in rates through 2009.

 

REGULATORY MATTERS

Regulatory Matters is fully discussed in Note 7 to Consolidated Financial Statements

 

CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

Capital expenditures for the six months ended June 30, 2001 were approximately $8.4 million. This compares to $9.8 million during the same
period last year. Annual capital expenditures for the year 2001 are estimated to be approximately $18.5 million as compared to $22.2 million for
2000. This projection reflects normal capital expenditures for utility system expansions, replacements and other improvements.

 

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This report contains forward-looking statements which are subject to the inherent uncertainties in predicting future results and conditions. Certain
factors that could cause the actual results to differ materially from those projected in these forward-looking statements include, but are not limited
to; variations in weather, changes in the regulatory environment, customers' preferences on energy sources, general economic conditions,
increased competition and other uncertainties, all of which are difficult to predict, and many of which are beyond the control of the Company.

 

 

Item 3.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Although Unitil's utility operating companies are subject to commodity price risk as part of their traditional operations, the current regulatory
framework within which these companies operate allows for full collection of fuel and gas costs in rates. Consequently, there is limited commodity
price risk after consideration of the related rate-making. As the utility industry deregulates, the Company will be divesting its commodity-related
energy businesses and therefore will be further reducing its exposure to commodity-related risk. There were no material changes to the Company's
exposure to interest rate risk from December 31, 2000.

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION



Item 1.  Legal Proceedings

The Company is involved in legal and administrative proceedings and claims of various types, which arise in the ordinary course of business. In the
opinion of the Company's management, based upon information furnished by counsel and others, the ultimate resolution of these claims will not
have a material impact on the Company's financial position.

 

Item 6.  Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K.

(a)  Exhibits

Exhibit No. Description of Exhibit Reference
   
11 Computation in Support of Filed herewith
 Earnings Per Average Common Share  
   
4.6 FGE Note Agreement dated June 1, 2001

for the 7.98% Notes due June 1, 2031.
Filed herewith

 

 

(b)    Reports on Form 8-K

During the quarter ended June 30, 2001, the Company did not file any reports on Form 8-K.
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

 

 

 

 UNITIL CORPORATION

 (Registrant)

 

 

Date:   August 14, 2001          /s/ Anthony J. Baratta, Jr.
                 Anthony J. Baratta, Jr.

                 Chief Financial Officer

 

 

Date:   August 14, 2001          /s/ Mark H. Collin
                 Mark H. Collin
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EXHIBIT 11.

UNITIL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

COMPUTATION OF EARNINGS PER AVERAGE COMMON SHARE OUTSTANDING
(000's except for per share data)



(UNAUDITED)

 Three Months Ended June 30,  Six Months Ended June 30,
BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE 2001  2000  2001  2000

        
Net Income $1,452 $1,227 $3,458 $3,891
Less: Dividend Requirement        
    on Preferred Stock 64 66 131 133
Net Income Applicable        
    to Common Stock $1,388 $1,161 $3,327 $3,758

        
Average Number of Common        
    Shares Outstanding 4,743,415 4,720,178 4,740,564 4,717,359

        
Basic Earnings Per Common Share $0.29 $0.25 $0.70 $0.80

 

 Three Months Ended June 30,  Six Months Ended June 30,
DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 2001 2000 2001 2000

        
Net Income $1,452 $1,227 $3,458 $3,891
Less: Dividend Requirement        
    on Preferred Stock 64 66 131 133
Net Income Applicable        
    to Common Stock $1,388 $1,161 $3,327 $3,758

        
Average Number of Common        
    Shares Outstanding 4,743,415 4,720,178 4,740,564 4,717,359

        
Dilutive Effect of Stock Options 18,691 24,236 18,399 28,417

        
Average Number of Dilutive        
    Common Shares Outstanding 4,762,106 4,744,414 4,758,963 4,745,776

        
Diluted Earnings per Common Share $0.29 $0.24 $0.70 $0.79
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Fitchburg Gas and Electric Light Company
6 Liberty Lane West

Hampton, New Hampshire 03842

Dated as of June 1, 2001

To the Purchasers named in Schedule I attached hereto

Fitchburg Gas and Electric Light Company (the "Company"), a Massachusetts corporation, agrees with the Purchasers named on
Schedule I of this Agreement (the "Purchasers") as follows:

Section 1. Authorization of Notes.

The Company has authorized the issue and sale of $14,000,000 principal amount of its 7.98% Notes due June 1, 2031 (the "Notes",
such term to include any such notes issued in substitution therefor pursuant to Section 8 hereof), interest to be payable
semiannually on June 1 and December 1 in each year (commencing on December 1, 2001), such Notes to be substantially in the
form of Exhibit A attached hereto, with such changes therein, if any, as may be approved by the Purchasers and the Company.
Certain capitalized terms used herein are defined in Section 14 hereof.

Section 2. Sale and Purchase of Notes.

Section 2.1. Commitment. The Company will issue and sell to each Purchaser and, subject to the terms and conditions hereof, each
Purchaser will purchase from the Company, Notes at a purchase price of 100% of the principal amount thereof set forth opposite
such Purchaser's name on Schedule I hereto, on the Closing Date hereinafter defined.

Section 2.2. Several Commitments. The obligations of the Purchasers shall be several and not joint and no Purchaser shall be liable
or responsible for the acts or defaults of any other Purchaser.

Section 3. Closing.

The closing of the sale and purchase of the Notes (the "Closing") shall take place at the offices of Chapman and Cutler, 111 West
Monroe Street, Chicago, Illinois 60603 at 10:00 a.m., Chicago time on June 8, 2001 or on such other business day not later than
June 15, 2001 as may be mutually agreed upon by the Purchasers and the Company (the "Closing Date"). At the Closing the
Company will deliver to each Purchaser the Notes in the form of a single registered Note (unless different denominations are
specified by such Purchaser) in the form of Exhibit A attached hereto dated the Closing Date for the full amount of the purchase
price and registered in such Purchaser's name or in the name of such Purchaser's nominee, all as such Purchaser may specify at any
time prior to the date fixed for delivery, against receipt of the purchase price payable by wire transfer of immediately available
funds to such account as the Company shall notify the Purchasers in writing at least two days prior to the Closing Date. If at the
Closing the Company shall fail to tender such Notes as provided herein, or if at the Closing any of the conditions specified in
Section 4 shall not have been fulfilled, each Purchaser shall, at its election, be relieved of all further obligations to purchase Notes
under this Agreement, without thereby waiving any other rights it may have by reason of such failure or such nonfulfillment.

Section 4. Conditions to Closing.

The obligation of each Purchaser to purchase the Notes to be sold to it at the Closing is subject to the fulfillment, prior to or at the
Closing, of the following conditions:

Section 4.1. Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of the Company in Section 5 shall be correct when
made and at the time of the Closing.

Section 4.2. Performance; No Default. The Company shall have performed and complied with all agreements and conditions
contained herein required to be performed or complied with by it prior to or at the Closing, and at the time of the Closing no
condition or event shall exist which constitutes or which, after notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute an Event of Default
(as defined in Section 13.1 hereof).

Section 4.3. Compliance Certificate. The Company shall have delivered to each Purchaser an Officers' Certificate, dated the date of
the Closing, certifying that the conditions specified in Sections 4.1 and 4.2 hereof have been fulfilled.

Section 4.4. Regulatory Approvals. The issue and sale of the Notes shall have been duly authorized by order of the Massachusetts
Department of Telecommunications and Energy (the "MDTE") and such order shall be in full force and effect at the time of the
Closing and the appeal period applicable to such order shall have expired.



Section 4.5. Legal Opinions. Each Purchaser shall have received from Chapman and Cutler, who is acting as special counsel to the
Purchasers in this transaction and from LeBoeuf, Lamb, Greene & MacRae, L.L.P., counsel for the Company, their respective
opinions, dated the Closing Date, substantially in the form of Exhibits B and C attached hereto.

Section 4.6. Related Transactions. On the Closing Date the Company shall have consummated the sale of the Notes scheduled to be
sold to the other Purchaser on the Closing Date pursuant to this Agreement.

Section 4.7. Proceedings and Documents. All corporate and other proceedings in connection with the transactions contemplated
hereby and all documents and instruments incident to such transactions shall be satisfactory in substance and form to each
Purchaser and its special counsel, and each Purchaser and its special counsel shall have received all such counterpart originals or
certified or other copies of such documents as they may reasonably request.

Section 4.8. Private Placement Number. Purchasers' special counsel shall have obtained from Standard & Poor's Corporation and
provided to each Purchaser a Private Placement Number for the Notes.

Section 5. Representations and Warranties of the Company.

The Company represents and warrants that:

Section 5.1. Organization, Standing, Due Authorization. The Company is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good
standing under the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and has all requisite corporate power and authority to own and
operate its Properties, to carry on its business as now conducted, to enter into this Agreement, to issue and sell the Notes and to
carry out the terms hereof and thereof. The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby have been duly authorized by the Company's Board of Directors, and no approval of the stockholders of the
Company is required in connection therewith.

Section 5.2. Capitalization. The Company's authorized and outstanding capital stock is as follows:

Title of Class Shares Authorized Shares Outstanding
Common Stock, $10 par value 2,000,000 1,244,629
Cumulative Preferred Stock,
$100 par value

99,820  

 
5-1/8% Series
8% Series

 9,596
12,318

All of the Company's outstanding capital stock is validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable.

Section 5.3. Subsidiaries. Other than holdings of capital stock which, individually and in the aggregate, are immaterial to the
business and financial condition of the Company, the Company does not own any shares of capital stock or shares of beneficial
interest of any corporation or other entity except Fitchburg Energy Development Company, a wholly-owned Subsidiary, which is a
corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware and which is currently an
inactive Subsidiary.

Section 5.4. Qualification. In all jurisdictions where the Company owns real Property or maintains any place of business, it is either
qualified to do business and in good standing or such qualification can readily be obtained without substantial penalty and the
failure to qualify in jurisdictions where the Company has not done so will not have a material adverse effect on the business or
condition of the Company and its Subsidiary, taken as a whole, financial or otherwise.

Section 5.5. Periodic Reports. The Company has delivered to each Purchaser the Annual Report on Form 10-K Report filed by
Unitil with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Sec") for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000, including such
Exhibits thereto as each Purchaser has requested (the "10-K Report"), and the Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q by Unitil filed with
the SEC for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2001 (the "10-Q Report"). Unitil has not filed any Current Reports on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC during calendar year 2000 or 2001. There is no fact known to the Company which materially and adversely
affects, or which in the future may (so far as the Company can now foresee) materially and adversely affect, the business,
Properties, operations or condition, financial or otherwise, of the Company and its Subsidiary taken as a whole, which has not been
set forth in the 10-K Report, the 10-Q Report, this Agreem ent, the Notes or in the other written documents, certificates and
statements already furnished to each Purchaser by or on behalf of the Company in connection with the transactions contemplated
hereby.

Section 5.6. Franchises; Etc. The Company has all franchises, certificates of convenience and necessity, operating rights, licenses,
permits, consents, approvals, authorizations and orders of governmental bodies, political subdivisions and regulatory authorities,
free from unduly burdensome restrictions, as are reasonably necessary for the ownership of the Properties now owned and operated
by it, the maintenance and operation of the Properties now operated by it and the conduct of the business now conducted by it.

Section 5.7. Financial Statements. The Company has furnished to each Purchaser:

(a) the Company's financial statements for each of its fiscal years ended December 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 (the
"Annual Reports"), containing balance sheets, on a consolidated basis, of the Company and its Subsidiary as at the end



of such fiscal years and the related statements of earnings, retained earnings and cash flows of the Company on a
consolidated basis for such fiscal years, as certified by Grant Thornton L.L.P., independent certified public
accountants; and

(b) unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its Subsidiary for the three months ended
March 31, 2001, including a consolidated balance sheet as at such date and statements of earnings and retained
earnings for such period (together with the Annual Reports, the "Company Reports").

Subject to any qualifications set forth in the accompanying reports of independent certified public accountants, all such financial
statements are complete and correct (subject, in the case of such unaudited financial statements, to year-end and audit adjustments)
and have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles applied on a consistent basis throughout the
periods covered thereby. Such balance sheets (together with the pertinent notes thereto) fairly present the financial condition of the
Company and its Subsidiary as at the respective dates indicated, and in each case reflect all known liabilities, contingent or
otherwise, at such dates, all in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and such statements of earnings, retained
earnings and cash flows fairly present the results of the operations of the Company and its Subsidiary for the respective periods
indicated.

Section 5.8. Changes; Etc. Since December 31, 2000: (a) except as disclosed in the 10-K Report, 10-Q Report or the Company
Reports, there has been no material adverse change in the assets, liabilities or financial condition of the Company and its
Subsidiary, taken as a whole, from that reflected in the balance sheet as at December 31, 2000 referred to in Section 5.7 or
otherwise previously disclosed in writing, other than changes in the ordinary course of business; (b) neither the business, operations
or affairs of the Company and its Subsidiary nor any of their Properties or assets, taken as a whole, have been materially adversely
affected by any occurrence or development (whether or not insured against) except as disclosed in the 10-K Report, the 10-Q
Report or the Company Reports or otherwise previously disclosed in writing; and (c) the Company has not, prior to the Closing
Date, directly or indirectly, declared, paid or made any divide nd or distribution on or on account of any shares of capital stock of
the Company or any redemption, retirement, purchase or other acquisition of any shares of capital stock of the Company, or agreed
to do so, except for the payment of regular cash dividends on its Cumulative Preferred Stock and purchases of Cumulative
Preferred Stock under applicable sinking fund provisions.

Section 5.9. Tax Returns and Payments. All tax returns of the Company and its Subsidiary required by law to be filed have been
duly filed, and all taxes, assessments, fees and other governmental charges upon the Company or its Subsidiary shown to be due on
such returns have been paid. The federal income tax liability of the Company and its Subsidiary has been finally determined by the
Internal Revenue Service and satisfied through the fiscal year ended December 31, 1993. The charges, accruals and reserves on the
books of the Company and its Subsidiary in respect of income taxes for all fiscal periods are adequate in the opinion of the
Company and, except as disclosed in the 10-K Report, the 10-Q Report or the Company Reports, the Company knows of no unpaid
assessment for additional income taxes for any fiscal period or of any basis therefor.

Section 5.10. Title to Properties. Each of the Company and its Subsidiary has good and marketable title to all the real Property and
a good and valid ownership interest in all the other assets reflected in the most recent balance sheet referred to in Section 5.7 or
subsequently acquired, other than real Property and other assets subsequently sold or otherwise disposed of in the ordinary course
of business, subject in each case only to Liens permitted by Section 11.3.

Section 5.11. Litigation; Etc. There is no action, proceeding or investigation pending or, to the Company's knowledge, threatened
(or any basis therefor known to the Company) which questions the validity of this Agreement or the Notes or any action taken or to
be taken pursuant hereto or thereto, nor, except as disclosed in the 10-K Report, the 10-Q Report or the Company Reports, is there
any action, proceeding or investigation pending or, to the Company's knowledge, threatened (or any basis therefor known to the
Company) which might result, either in any case or in the aggregate, in any material adverse change in the business, operations,
affairs or condition of the Company and its Subsidiary or their Properties and assets taken as a whole or in any material liability on
the part of the Company or its Subsidiary.

Section 5.12. Compliance with Other Instruments, Etc. Except as set forth in the 10-K Report, the 10-Q Report or the Company
Reports, the Company is not in violation of any term of its Articles of Organization or By-Laws, or, to the Company's knowledge,
in violation of any term of any franchise, license, permit, agreement, indenture, instrument, judgment, decree, order, statute, or
governmental rule or regulation applicable to it so as to materially and adversely affect, either individually or in the aggregate, its
financial condition; and the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Notes will not result in any such
violation or be in conflict with or constitute a default under any term of any of the foregoing and will not result in the creation of
any mortgage, lien, charge or encumbrance upon any of the Properties or assets of the Company or its Subsidiary pursuant to any
such term.

Section 5.13. ERISA. (a) The Company and each ERISA Affiliate have operated and administered each Plan in compliance with all
applicable laws except for such instances of noncompliance as have not resulted in and could not reasonably be expected to result
in a Material Adverse Effect. Neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has incurred any liability pursuant to Title I or IV of
ERISA or the penalty or excise tax provisions of the Code relating to employee benefit plans (as defined in Section 3 of ERISA),
and no event, transaction or condition has occurred or exists that could reasonably be expected to result in the incurrence of any
such liability by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate, or in the imposition of any lien on any of the rights, properties or assets of
the Company or any ERISA Affiliate, in either case pursuant to Title I or IV of ERISA or to such penalty or excise tax provisions
or to Section 401(a)(29) or 412 of the Code, other t han such liabilities or liens as would not be individually or in the aggregate
Material.



(b) The present value of the aggregate benefit liabilities under each of the Plans (other than Multiemployer Plans), determined as of
the end of such Plan's most recently ended plan year on the basis of the actuarial assumptions specified for funding purposes in
such Plan's most recent actuarial valuation report, did not exceed the aggregate current value of the assets of such Plan allocable to
such benefit liabilities. The term "benefit liabilities" has the meaning specified in Section 4001 of ERISA and the terms "current
value" and "present value" have the meaning specified in Section 3 of ERISA.

(c) The Company and its ERISA Affiliates have not incurred withdrawal liabilities (and are not subject to contingent withdrawal
liabilities) under section 4201 or 4204 of ERISA in respect of Multiemployer Plans that individually or in the aggregate are
Material.

(d) The expected post-retirement benefit obligation (determined as of the last day of the Company's most recently ended fiscal year
in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 106, without regard to liabilities attributable to
continuation coverage mandated by section 4980B of the Code) of the Company and its Subsidiary is not Material.

(e) The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the issuance and sale of the Notes hereunder will not involve any transaction
that is subject to the prohibitions of section 406 of ERISA or in connection with which a tax could be imposed pursuant to
section 4975(c)(1)(A)-(D) of the Code. The representation by the Company in the first sentence of this Section 5.13(e) is made in
reliance upon and subject to the accuracy of each Purchaser's representation in Section 7(b) as to the sources of the funds used to
pay the purchase price of the Notes.

Section 5.14. Regulatory Jurisdiction and Approvals. The Company is subject to regulation by the MDTE with respect to retail
rates, adequacy of service, issuance of securities, accounting and other matters. The issuance and sale of the Notes has been
authorized by an order of the MDTE which has become final and the applicable appeal period has expired. The Company is exempt
from registration of the Notes with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 250.52(a) promulgated under the Public Utility Holding
Company Act of 1935, as amended. Although a post-sale filing with the SEC on Form U-6B-2 is required, the issuance and sale of
the Notes is not subject to the prior approval of the SEC under the Holding Company Act. No order, consent, approval or
authorization of, or any declaration or filing with, any other governmental agency or authority is required as a condition precedent
to the valid offering, issue, sale and delivery of the Notes by the Company and the consummation by the Company of the
transactions contemplated hereby.

Section 5.15. Patents; Trademarks; Etc. The Company owns or possesses all of the patents, trademarks, service marks, trade names
and copyrights, and all rights of use with respect to the foregoing, necessary for the conduct of its business as now conducted,
without any known conflict with the rights of others.

Section 5.16. Offer of Notes. Neither the Company nor anyone authorized to act on its behalf has directly or indirectly offered or
will offer the Notes or any part thereof or any similar securities for issue or sale to, or solicited or will solicit any offer to acquire
any of the same from, or has otherwise approached or negotiated or will approach or negotiate in respect thereof with not more than
125 institutional investors, including the Purchasers. Neither the Company nor anyone authorized to act on its behalf has taken or
will take any action which will subject the issuance and sale of the Notes to the provisions of Section 5 of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended (the "Securities Act").

Section 5.17. Investment Company Act Status. Neither the Company nor its Subsidiary is an "investment company" or a company
"controlled" by an "investment company", as such terms are defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.

Section 5.18. Federal Reserve Regulations. Neither the Company nor its Subsidiary owns or has any present intention of acquiring
any "margin security" within the meaning of Regulation U (12 CFR Part 207) of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve
System (herein called a "margin security"). The proceeds of the sale of the Notes will be applied as provided in Section 6. None of
such proceeds will be used, directly or indirectly, for the purpose of purchasing or carrying any margin security or for the purpose
of reducing or retiring any indebtedness which was originally incurred to purchase or carry a margin security or for any other
purpose which might constitute the transactions contemplated hereby a "purpose credit" within the meaning of said Regulation U,
or cause this Agreement to violate Regulation U, Regulation T, Regulation X, or any other regulation of the Board of Governors of
the Federal Reserve System or Section& nbsp;7 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act"), each now in effect.

Section 5.19. Foreign Credit Restraints. Neither the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement nor the use
of the proceeds of the sale of the Notes will violate any provision of any applicable statute, regulation or order of, or any restriction
imposed by, the United States of America or any authorized official, board, department, instrumentality or agency thereof relating
to the control of foreign or overseas lending or investment.

Section 5.20. Disclosure. Neither this Agreement, the financial statements referred to in Section 5.7, the 10-K Report, the 10-Q
Report, the Company Reports, nor any other document, certificate or written statement furnished to the Purchasers by or on behalf
of the Company in connection with the negotiation of the sale of the Notes, contains any untrue statement of a material fact or
omits to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements contained herein and therein not misleading. There is no fact
known to the Company which materially adversely affects or in the future may (so far as the Company can now foresee) materially
adversely affect the business, operations, affairs or condition of the Company and its Subsidiary, taken as a whole, or their
Properties or assets, taken as a whole, which has not been set forth in this Agreement or in the other documents, certificates, the 10-
K Report, the 10-Q Report, the Company Reports and written statem ents furnished to the Purchasers by or on behalf of the
Company prior to the date of this Agreement in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby.



Section 5.21. Funded Indebtedness. Schedule II attached hereto correctly describes all Funded Indebtedness of the Company and its
Subsidiary outstanding on March 31, 2001.

Section 5.22. Sale is Legal and Authorized. The sale of the Notes and compliance by the Company with all of the provisions of the
Agreement and the Notes -

(a) are within the corporate powers of the Company; and

(b) have been duly authorized by proper corporate action on the part of the Company (no action by the stockholders of
the Company being required by law, by the Articles of Organization or By-laws of the Company or otherwise); this
Agreement and, when executed and delivered in accordance with the terms hereof, the Notes, have been or will have
been, as the case may be, duly executed and delivered on behalf of the Company by duly authorized officers thereof,
and this Agreement and, when executed and delivered in accordance with the terms hereof, the Notes constitute or will
constitute, as the case may be, the legal, valid and binding obligations, contracts and agreements of the Company
enforceable in accordance with their respective terms.

Section 5.23. No Defaults. No Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing. The Company is not in default in the
payment of principal or interest on any Indebtedness and is not in default under any instrument or instruments or agreements under
and subject to which any Indebtedness has been issued and no event has occurred and is continuing under the provisions of any
such instrument or agreement which with the lapse of time or the giving of notice, or both, would constitute an event of default
thereunder.

Section 5.24. Compliance with Environmental Laws. Except as disclosed in the 10-K Report, the 10-Q Report or the Company
Reports, the Company is not in violation of any applicable Federal, state, or local laws, statutes, rules, regulations or ordinances
relating to public health, safety or the environment, including, without limitation, relating to releases, discharges, emissions or
disposals to air, water, land or ground water, to the withdrawal or use of ground water, to the use, handling or disposal of
polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), asbestos or urea formaldehyde, to the treatment, storage, disposal or management of hazardous
substances (including, without limitation, petroleum, crude oil or any fraction thereof, or other hydrocarbons), pollutants or
contaminants, to exposure to toxic, hazardous or other controlled, prohibited or regulated substances which violation could have a
material adverse effect on the business, prospects, profits, properties or condition (f inancial or otherwise) of the Company and its
Subsidiary, taken as a whole. Except as disclosed in the 10-K Report, the 10-Q Report or the Company Reports, the Company does
not know of any liability or class of liability of the Company or its Subsidiary under the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended (42 U.S.C. Section 9601 et seq.), or the Resource Conservation and Recovery
Act of 1976, as amended (42 U.S.C. Section 6901 et seq.).

Section 6. Use of Proceeds.

The proceeds of the sale of the Notes will be applied by the Company to refinance existing short-term debt and/or fund capital
additions on its utility plant and for general corporate purposes.

Section 7. Purchasers' Representations.

(a) Each Purchaser represents that such Purchaser is purchasing the Notes for its own account for investment and not with a view to
the distribution thereof and has no present intention of selling, negotiating, or otherwise disposing of the Notes, provided that the
disposition of the Purchaser's Property shall at all times be within its control. The acquisition of any of the Notes by each Purchaser
shall constitute the Purchaser's reaffirmation of such representation, and it is understood that in making the representations
contained in Sections 5.13(e) and 5.16, the Company is relying, to the extent applicable, on the Purchaser's representation in this
Section 7.

(b) Each Purchaser represents that at least one of the following statements is an accurate representation as to each source of funds (a
"Source") to be used by such Purchaser to pay the purchase price of the Notes to be purchased by the Purchaser hereunder:

(i) the source is an "insurance company general account" and there is no employee benefit plan with respect to which
the amount, if any, of such general account's reserves and liabilities for all contracts held by or on behalf of such plan
and all other plans maintained by the same employer or its affiliates or by the same employee organization exceeds
10% of the total of all reserves and liabilities of such general account at the date of purchase (all as determined under
Prohibited Transaction Class Exemption ("PTE") 95-60 (issued July 12, 1995)); or

(ii) the Source is either (A) an insurance company pooled separate account, within the meaning of PTE 90-1 (issued
January 29, 1990), or (B) a bank collective investment fund, within the meaning of the PTE 91-38 (issued July 12,
1991) and, except as the Purchaser has disclosed to the Company in writing pursuant to this paragraph (b)(ii)), no
employee benefit plan or group of plans maintained by the same employer or employee organization beneficially owns
more than 10% of all assets allocated to such pooled separate account or collective investment fund; or

(iii) the Source constitutes assets of an "investment fund" (within the meaning of Part V of the QPAM Exemption)
managed by a "qualified professional asset manager" or "QPAM" (within the meaning of Part V of the QPAM
Exemption), no employee benefit plan's assets that are included in such investment fund, when combined with the
assets of all other employee benefit plans established or maintained by the same employer or by an affiliate (within the
meaning of Section V(c)(1) of the QPAM Exemption) of such employer or by the same employee organization and



managed by such QPAM, exceed 20% of the total client assets managed by such QPAM, the conditions of Part I(c) and
(g) of the QPAM Exemption are satisfied, neither the QPAM nor a Person controlling or controlled by the QPAM
(applying the definition of "control" in Section V(e) of the QPAM Exemption) owns a 5% or more interest in the
Company and (A) the identity of such QPAM and (B) the names of all emp loyee benefit plans whose assets are
included in such investment fund have been disclosed to the Company in writing pursuant to this paragraph (b)(iii); or

(iv) the Source is a governmental plan; or

(v) the Source does not include assets of any employee benefit plan, other than a plan exempt from the coverage of
ERlSA; or

(vi) the Source is one or more employee benefit plans, or a separate account, general account or trust fund comprised
of one or more employee benefit plans, each of which has been identified to the Company in writing pursuant to this
paragraph (b)(vi).

As used in this paragraph (b), the terms "employee benefit plan," "governmental plan," "party in interest" and "separate account"
shall have the respective meanings assigned to such terms in Section 3 of ERISA.

Section 8. Registration, Transfer and Substitution of Notes.

Section 8.1. Note Register; Ownership of Notes. The Company will keep at its principal office located at 6 Liberty Lane West,
Hampton, New Hampshire, or such other address of which the Company may hereafter notify the holders of the Notes from time to
time, a register in which the Company will provide for the registration of Notes and the registration of transfers of Notes. The
Company may treat the Person in whose name any Note is registered on such register as the owner thereof for the purpose of
receiving payment of the principal of and interest on such Note and for all other purposes, whether or not such Note shall be
overdue, and the Company shall not be affected by any notice to the contrary except for a properly presented request by such owner
to transfer such Note to another Person. All references in this Agreement to a "holder" of any Note shall mean the Person in whose
name such Note is at the time registered on such register.

Section 8.2. Transfer and Exchange of Notes. Upon surrender of any Note by the holder or transferee thereof for registration or
transfer or for exchange at the principal office of the Company, the Company at its expense will execute and deliver in exchange
therefor a new Note or Notes in denominations of not less than $100,000 (amounts in excess thereof to be in $10,000 increments,
unless the entire principal balance of a Note is being transferred or exchanged, in which case the denomination may be made in
increments of less than $10,000 if such Note being transferred or exchanged is in an amount that does not represent $10,000
increments) requested by the holder or transferee which aggregate the unpaid principal amount of such surrendered Note, registered
as such holder or transferee may request, dated so that there will be no loss of interest on such surrendered Note and otherwise of
like tenor.

Section 8.3. Replacement of Notes. Upon receipt of evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Company of the loss, theft, destruction
or mutilation of any Note and, in the case of any such loss, theft or destruction upon delivery of indemnity reasonably satisfactory
to the Company in form and amount, or, in the case of any such mutilation, upon the surrender of such Note for cancellation at the
principal office of the Company, the Company at its expense will execute and deliver, in lieu thereof, a new Note of like tenor,
dated so that there will be no loss of interest on such lost, stolen, destroyed or mutilated Note. If the Purchasers or any subsequent
Institutional Holder is the owner of any such lost, stolen or destroyed Note, then the affidavit of an authorized officer of such
owner, setting forth the fact of loss, theft or destruction and of its ownership of such Note at the time of such loss, theft or
destruction shall be accepted as satisfactory evidence thereof an d no further indemnity shall be required as a condition to the
execution and delivery of a new Note other than the written agreement of such owner to indemnify the Company. Any Note in lieu
of which any such new Note has been so executed and delivered by the Company shall not be deemed to be an outstanding Note for
any purpose of this Agreement.

Section 9. Payment on Notes.

The Company will pay all sums becoming due on each Note (including redemptions, whether for principal or interest) by check
mailed to the holder of such Note at the registered address of such holder as set forth in the register kept by the Company at its
principal office as provided in Section 8.1, without the presentation or surrender of such Note or the making of any notation
thereon, except that any Note paid or prepaid in full shall be surrendered to the Company at its principal office for cancellation,
provided that, in the case of any Note with respect to which any Purchaser or any subsequent Institutional Holder is the registered
owner, and with respect to which any such subsequent Institutional Holder has given written notice to the Company requesting that
the provisions of this Section 9 shall apply, the Company will punctually pay when due the principal thereof, interest thereon and
premium, if any, due with respect to said principal, without any presentment ther eof, directly to such Purchaser or to such
subsequent Institutional Holder at such Purchaser's address set forth in Schedule I hereto or such other address as such Purchaser or
such subsequent Institutional Holder may from time to time designate in writing to the Company or, if a bank account with a United
States bank is designated for such Purchaser on Schedule I hereto or in any written notice to the Company from the Purchaser or
from any such subsequent Institutional Holder, the Company will make such payments in immediately available funds to such bank
account, marked for attention as indicated, or in such other manner or to such other account in any United States bank as such
Purchaser or any such subsequent Institutional Holder may from time to time direct in writing. The Company will not be liable for
failure to make payment on the Notes so long as the Company acts in accordance with any written instructions given by a
Purchaser or any such Institutional Holder under Section 9. Prior to any sale or other disposition of any Note, the holder thereof



will, at its election, either endorse thereon the amount of principal paid thereon and the last date to which interest has been paid
thereon, or make such Note available to the Company at its principal office for the purpose of making such endorsement thereon.

Section 10. Redemption of Notes.

Section 10.1. Fixed Redemptions. The Company agrees that on June 1 in each year commencing June 1, 2027 and ending June 1,
2031, it will redeem and there shall become due and payable on the principal indebtedness evidenced by the Notes an amount equal
to the lesser of (i) $2,800,000 or (ii) the principal amount of the Notes then outstanding. For purposes of this Section 10.1, any
redemption of less than all of the outstanding Notes pursuant to Section 10.2 shall be deemed to be applied first, to the amount of
principal scheduled to be paid on June 1, 2031, and then to the remaining scheduled principal payments in inverse chronological
order.

Section 10.2. Optional Redemption. The Company may at its option, upon notice as provided in Section 10.3, redeem at any time
on or prior to June 1, 2029, all or, from time to time, any part of the Notes aggregating at least $100,000 in aggregate principal
amount, in each case by payment of the principal amount of the Notes, or portion thereof to be redeemed and accrued interest
thereon to the date of such redemption, together with a premium equal to the Make-Whole Premium, determined as of five business
days prior to the date of such prepayment pursuant to this Section 10.2. In addition to the foregoing, on any date after June 1, 2029,
all of the Notes, or any part of the principal amount thereof aggregating at least $100,000 in aggregate principal amount, shall be
subject to redemption, at the option of the Company, by payment of the interest accrued on the principal amount of the Notes
optionally to be redeemed to the date of such redemption plus 100% of the principal amount thereof.

Section 10.3. Notice of Optional Redemptions. The Company will give each holder of any Notes written notice of each optional
redemption under Section 10.2 not less than fifteen (15) days and not more than forty-five (45) days prior to the date fixed for such
optional redemption, specifying (i) such date, (ii) the aggregate principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed on such date, (iii) the
principal amount of each Note held by such holder to be redeemed on such date, (iv) whether a premium may be payable, (v) the
date when any such premium will be calculated, (vi) if a premium may be payable, the estimated premium, and (vii) the accrued
interest applicable to the redemption. Such notice of redemption shall also certify all facts, if any, which are conditions precedent to
any such redemption. Not later than two business days prior to the redemption date specified in such notice, the Company shall
provide each holder of a Note wr itten notice of the premium, if any, payable in connection with such redemption and, whether or
not any premium is payable, a reasonably detailed computation of the Make-Whole Premium.

Section 10.4. Selection of Notes for Redemption. Redemptions pursuant to this Section 10 shall be made in units of $1,000 principal
amount and integral multiples thereof and the Notes then held by each holder shall be redeemed in proportion, as nearly as may be,
to the aggregate principal amount of Notes then outstanding.

Section 10.5. Maturity; Surrender; Etc. In the case of each redemption, the principal amount of each Note to be redeemed and the
premium, if any, payable with respect thereto shall become due and payable on the date fixed for such redemption by the written
notice referred to in Section 10.3, together with interest on such principal amount accrued to such date. From and after such date,
unless the Company shall fail to pay such principal amount when so due and payable, together with the interest to the date of
redemption, interest on such principal amount shall cease to accrue. Any Note redeemed in full shall be surrendered to the
Company and cancelled and shall not be reissued, and no Note shall be issued in lieu of any prepaid principal amount of any Note.

Section 10.6. Repurchase of Notes. The Company will not, nor will it permit any Affiliate to, directly or indirectly repurchase or
make any offer to repurchase any Notes unless the Company or any such Affiliate has offered to repurchase Notes, pro rata, from
all holders of the Notes at the time outstanding upon the same terms. In case the Company or any such Affiliate repurchases any
Notes, such Notes shall thereafter be cancelled and no Notes shall be issued in substitution therefor. Without limiting the foregoing,
upon the repurchase or other acquisition of any Notes by the Company or any Affiliate, such Notes shall no longer be outstanding
for purposes of any section of this Agreement relating to the taking by the holders of the Notes of any actions with respect hereto,
including, without limitation, Sections 13.1, 13.3 and 17.

Section 11. Covenants.

The Company covenants that, from and after the date of this Agreement and until none of the Notes shall be outstanding:

Section 11.1. Punctual Payment. The Company will duly and punctually pay the principal, premium, if any, and interest on the
Notes in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and of the Notes.

Section 11.2. Prompt Payment of Taxes and Indebtedness. The Company will promptly pay and discharge, and will cause each
Subsidiary to pay and discharge, all lawful taxes, assessments and governmental charges or levies imposed upon the Company or
Subsidiary or upon its income or profits, or upon any Property belonging to it; provided, however, that the Company and its
Subsidiary shall not be required to pay any such tax, assessment, charge or levy if the same shall not at the time be due and payable
or can be paid thereafter without additional liability, or if the validity or amount thereof shall then be contested in good faith by
appropriate proceedings and if the Company shall have set aside on its books adequate reserves with respect thereto in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles; and provided, further, that the Company and its Subsidiaries will pay all such taxes,
assessments, charges or levies when and as necessary to prevent fore closure of any Lien which may have attached as security
therefor or to prevent the forfeiture or sale of the property subject to the Lien of such assessment, charge or levy or any material
interference with the use thereof by the Company or any Subsidiary. The Company will promptly pay when due, or in conformance
with customary trade terms, all other indebtedness incident to operations and dividends declared, other than disputed claims which



are being contested in good faith and for which the Company has set aside on its books adequate reserves in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles.

Section 11.3. Limitation on Liens. Except as hereinafter in this Section expressly permitted, the Company will not at any time, nor
will it permit any Subsidiary to, directly or indirectly, create, assume or suffer to exist, except in favor of the Company or any
Subsidiary, any Lien upon any of its Properties or assets, real or personal, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, or of or upon
any income or profits therefrom, without making effective provision, and the Company covenants that in any such case it will make
or cause to be made effective provision, whereby the Notes then outstanding shall be secured by such Lien equally and ratably with
any and all other Indebtedness to be secured thereby, so long as any such other Indebtedness shall be so secured.

Nothing in this Section shall be construed to prevent the Company or a Subsidiary from creating, assuming or suffering to exist,
and the Company and its Subsidiaries are hereby expressly permitted to create, assume or suffer to exist, without securing the Notes
as hereinabove provided, Liens of the following character:

(a) Liens existing on the date hereof;

(b) Liens, in addition to those otherwise permitted by this Section 11.3, securing Indebtedness which does not exceed
in the aggregate $5,000,000 at any one time outstanding; provided that all such Indebtedness shall have been incurred
within the applicable limitations provided in Sections 11.4 and 11.5;

(c) any purchase money mortgage or other Lien existing on any Property of the Company or a Subsidiary at the time of
acquisition, whether or not assumed, or created contemporaneously with the acquisition or construction of Property, to
secure or provide for the payment of the purchase or construction price of such Property, and any conditional sales
agreement or other title retention agreement with respect to any Property hereafter acquired; provided, however, that
(i) the aggregate principal amount of the Indebtedness secured by all such mortgages and other liens on a particular
parcel of Property shall not exceed 100% of the lesser of the total cost or fair market value at the time of the
acquisition or construction of such Property, including the improvements thereon (as determined in good faith by the
Board of Directors of the Company) and (ii) all such Indebtedness shall have been incurred within the applicable
limitations provided in Sections 11.4 and 11.5;

(d) refundings or extensions of any Lien permitted by this Section 11.3 for amounts not exceeding the principal amount
of the Indebtedness so refunded or extended at the time of the refunding or extension thereof, and covering only the
same Property theretofore securing the same;

(e) deposits, Liens or pledges to enable the Company or a Subsidiary to exercise any privilege or license, or to secure
payment of worker's compensation, unemployment insurance, old age pensions or other social security, or to secure the
performance of bids, tenders, contracts or leases to which the Company or a Subsidiary is a party, or to secure public or
statutory obligations of the Company or a Subsidiary, or to secure surety, stay or appeal bonds to which the Company
or a Subsidiary is a party; or other similar deposits or pledges made in the ordinary course of business;

(f) mechanics', workmen's, repairmen's, materialmen's or carrier's liens or other similar Liens arising in the ordinary
course of business; or deposits or pledges to obtain the release of any such Liens;

(g) Liens arising out of judgments or awards against the Company or a Subsidiary with respect to which the Company
or a Subsidiary shall in good faith be prosecuting an appeal or proceedings for review and in respect of which a stay of
execution pending such appeal or proceeding for review shall have been secured; or Liens incurred by the Company or
a Subsidiary for the purpose of obtaining a stay or discharge in the course of any legal proceeding to which the
Company or a Subsidiary is a party;

(h) Liens for taxes (x) not yet subject to penalties for non-payment or (y) being contested provided, payment thereof is
not required by Section 11.2; or minor survey exceptions, or minor encumbrances, easements or reservations of, or
rights of others for, rights of way, sewers, electric lines, telegraph and telephone lines and other similar purposes, or
zoning or other restrictions as to the use of real Properties, which encumbrances, easements, reservations, rights and
restrictions do not in the aggregate materially detract from the value of said Properties or materially impair their use in
the operation of the business of the Company or a Subsidiary;

(i) pledges, assignments and other security devices entered into in connection with the financing or refinancing of
customer's conditional sales contracts;

(j) Liens incurred in connection with the lease of conversion burners and water heaters to customers;

(k) Liens incurred in connection with agreements for the financing of gas, nuclear and other fuel inventories and
cushion gas;

(l) Liens on Property acquired through the merger or consolidation of another utility company with or into, or the
purchase of all or substantially all of the assets of another utility company by, the Company or a Subsidiary, provided
that such Lien does not extend to other Property of the Company or a Subsidiary; and



(m) Security interests in, and pledges of, the Company's rights and benefits under contracts which have been or may be
entered into by the Company and other New England utility companies in connection with participation by the
Company and such other utilities in the Hydro-Quebec Purchase Power and Interconnection Projects.

If at any time the Company or a Subsidiary shall create or assume any Lien not permitted by this Section, to which the covenant in
the first paragraph of this Section 11.3 is applicable, the Company will promptly deliver to each holder of record of the Notes then
outstanding:

(a) an Officers' Certificate stating that the covenant of the Company contained in the first paragraph of this
Section 11.3 has been complied with; and

(b) an Opinion of Counsel addressed to such holders to the effect that such covenant has been complied with, and that
any instruments executed by the Company in the performance of such covenant comply with the requirements of such
covenant.

Section 11.4. Limitation on Funded Indebtedness. The Company will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, create, incur or
assume any Funded Indebtedness other than:

(a) Funded Indebtedness evidenced by the Notes;

(b) Funded Indebtedness outstanding on the date hereof which is described on Schedule II hereto; and

(c) additional Funded Indebtedness so long as (i) the aggregate outstanding principal amount of such Funded
Indebtedness, after giving effect to the application of the proceeds thereof (subject to the proviso set forth hereafter)
and when added to all other Funded Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries then outstanding, does not
exceed 65% of the Total Capitalization; provided, that in giving effect to the application of such proceeds, only
applications which are substantially contemporaneous with the incurrence of such additional Funded Indebtedness
shall be given such effect, except that if the application of such proceeds involves the redemption of other securities of
the Company, and such redemption cannot be made substantially contemporaneously with the incurrence of such
additional Funded Indebtedness, then such intended redemption shall nevertheless be given effect for purposes hereof
if either (1) the Company shall have given irrevocable written notice of redemption of such other securities to the
holders thereof at or prior to the time of the incurrence of such additional Funded Indebtedness and such redemption is
thereafter made in accordance with the terms of such notice, or (2) if such notice was not permitted to be given at or
prior to the time of the incurrence of such additional Funded Indebtedness and the redemption will occur within 180
days after such incurrence, then (A) the proceeds of such Funded Indebtedness to be used for such redemption shall
have been set aside in an escrow or trust account with a United States bank or other financial institution having capital
and surplus of at least $35,000,000, together with written instructions to the escrow agent or trustee to send notice of
redemption of such securities provided by the Company to the holders thereof in accordance with the terms of such
securities and thereafter to use such proceeds for such redemption in accordance with the terms of such notice, such
escrow or trust accoun t to also provide (x) that the funds set aside therein are not to be released to or for the benefit of
the Company except for the purpose of accomplishing the redemption contemplated thereby, or with the prior written
consent of all holders of Notes then outstanding, and (y) that if the funds set aside therein are invested in securities by
such bank or financial institution, they shall be invested only in direct obligations of the United States of America
maturing in not more than 180 days, and (B) unless otherwise agreed to in writing by all of the holders of Notes then
outstanding, the redemptions to be funded from such escrow or trust account is actually made in accordance with the
terms under which such escrow or trust account is established; and (ii) Earnings Available for Interest of the Company
and its Subsidiaries shall equal or exceed, for at least twelve (12) consecutive calendar months out of the fifteen (15)
months immediately preceding the proposed creation, incurrence or assumpti on of such Funded Indebtedness, two
times all amounts of interest for which the Company and its Subsidiaries will, for the twelve month period immediately
following the date of such creation, incurrence or assumption, be obligated on account of all Funded Indebtedness to
be outstanding immediately thereafter, in each case after giving effect to the application of the proceeds of such
Funded Indebtedness (subject to the proviso set forth in clause (i) of this subdivision (c) of this Section 11.4) and
(iii) in the case of additional Subsidiary Indebtedness, the Subsidiary shall be in compliance with Section 11.5.

Any corporation which becomes a Subsidiary after the date hereof shall for all purposes of this Section 11.4 be deemed to have
created, assumed or incurred at the time it becomes a Subsidiary all Funded Indebtedness of such corporation existing immediately
after it becomes a Subsidiary.

Section 11.5. Limitation on Subsidiary Indebtedness. In addition to the limitations contained in Section 11.4, no Subsidiary shall
create, incur, assume or become liable for or have outstanding, or permit its Property to be subject to a lien securing any Funded
Indebtedness if, after giving effect thereto and to any concurrent transaction, the aggregate amount of all Funded Indebtedness of
all Subsidiaries would exceed 20% of the aggregate amount of total common stock equity, preference stock and preferred stock of
the Company as presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles on a consolidated balance sheet of the
Company as of such date.

Section 11.6. Restriction on Dividends. Other than dividends payable solely in shares of its own common stock, the Company will
not declare or pay any dividend or make any other distribution on any shares of its common stock or apply any of its Property or
assets (other than amounts equal to net proceeds received from the sale of common stock of the Company subsequent to the date of
this Agreement) to the purchase or retirement of, or make any other distribution, through reduction of capital or otherwise, in



respect of any shares of its common stock (which dividends, distributions, purchases and retirements are hereinafter referred to as
"distributions") if, after giving effect to such distribution, the aggregate of all such distributions declared, paid, made or applied
subsequent to December 31, 2000, plus the amount of all regular dividends declared on any class of preferred stock of the
Company subsequent to December 31, 2000 and all amounts charged to retained earnings after December 31, 2000 in connection
with the purchase or retirement of any shares of preferred stock or preference stock of the Company, would exceed an amount equal
to the sum of $10,000,000 plus (or minus in the event of a deficit) Net Income (Deficit) accumulated after December 31, 2000.

For the purposes of this Section 11.6, the amount of any distribution declared, paid or distributed in Property shall be deemed to be
the fair market value (as determined in good faith by the Board of Directors of the Company) of such Property at the time of the
making of the distribution in question.

Section 11.7. Nature of Business. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary will engage in any business if, as a result, the general
nature of the business, taken on a consolidated basis, which would then be engaged in by the Company and its Subsidiaries would
be substantially changed from the general nature of the business engaged in by the Company and its Subsidiaries on the date of this
Agreement; provided, that any sale or other disposition of the Company's natural gas distribution business shall not be deemed to
be a change in the general nature of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries.

Section 11.8. Corporate Existence, Etc. The Company will preserve and keep in full force and effect, and will cause each
Subsidiary to preserve and keep in full force and effect, its corporate existence and all licenses and permits necessary to the proper
conduct of its business; provided, however, that the foregoing shall not prevent any transaction permitted by Section 11.11 nor shall
the foregoing prevent any transaction involving the liquidation or dissolution of any Subsidiary of the Company so long as such
liquidation or dissolution would not have a material impact on the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole.

Section 11.9. Maintenance of Insurance. The Company will insure and keep insured, and will cause every Subsidiary to insure and
keep insured, to a reasonable amount with reputable insurance companies, so much of their respective Properties as companies
engaged in a similar business and to the extent such companies in accordance with good business practice customarily insure
Properties of a similar character against loss by fire and from other causes or, in lieu thereof, in the case of itself or its Subsidiaries,
the Company will maintain or cause to be maintained a system or systems of self-insurance which will accord with the approved
practices of companies owning or operating Properties of a similar character and maintaining such systems, and of a size similar to
that of the Company's ultimate corporate parent, including the Company and all other direct and indirect subsidiaries of such
ultimate corporate parent on a consolidated basis.

Section 11.10. Maintenance of Properties; Etc. The Company will, and will cause every Subsidiary to, maintain, preserve, protect
and keep its Properties in good repair, working order and condition, and from time to time make all needful and proper repairs,
renewals, replacements, additions and improvements thereto so that its business and every portion thereof may be properly and
advantageously conducted at all times.

Section 11.11. Merger or Consolidation; Sale or Transfer of Assets. The Company will not (a) consolidate with or be a party to a
merger with any other corporation or (b) sell, lease or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company and
its Subsidiaries; provided, however, that the Company may consolidate or merge with any other corporation, or sell, lease or
otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries, if (i) the corporation which results
from such consolidation or merger or the corporation to which the Company sells, leases or otherwise disposes of all or
substantially all of its and its Subsidiaries' assets (in either case, the "surviving corporation") is either the Company (in the case of a
merger or consolidation), or, if not, is organized under the laws of any State of the United States or the District of Columbia, (ii) if
the surviving corporation is n ot the Company, the obligations of the Company under this Agreement and the Notes are expressly
assumed in writing by the surviving corporation and the surviving corporation shall furnish the holders of the Notes an opinion of
counsel satisfactory to such holders to the effect that the instrument of assumption has been duly authorized, executed and delivered
and constitutes the legal, valid and binding contract and agreement of the surviving corporation enforceable in accordance with its
terms, except as enforcement of such terms may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws
affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and by general equitable principles, and (iii) at the time of such
consolidation or merger or sale, lease or other disposition of all or substantially all of the Company's and its Subsidiaries' assets,
and immediately after giving effect thereto, no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing and the Company
or the s urviving corporation, as the case may be, could incur at least $1.00 of additional Funded Indebtedness pursuant to
Section 11.4.; provided, further that the Company will be permitted to sell its generating assets and power purchase entitlements
without the consent of the Purchasers, pursuant to the Company's restructuring plan filed with the MDTE on December 31, 1997.

Section 11.12. Books of Account and Reports. The Company will keep true records and books of account in which full, true and
correct entries will be made of all dealings or transactions in relation to the business and affairs of the Company and its
Subsidiaries, in accordance with such system of accounts and orders as shall be prescribed by governmental authorities having
jurisdiction in the premises, or, in the absence thereof, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and will file
such reports and documents with such Federal and state governmental authorities as may be required by law.

Section 11.13. Transactions with Affiliates. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary will enter into any transaction, including,
without limitation, the purchase, sale or exchange of Property or the rendering of any service, with any Affiliate except in the
ordinary course of and pursuant to the reasonable requirements of the Company's or such Subsidiary's business and upon fair and
reasonable terms no less favorable to the Company or such Subsidiary than would obtain in a comparable arm's-length transaction
with a Person not an Affiliate, except as may be necessary in order for the Company to comply with requirements of any applicable
state or federal statute or regulation; provided, however, that if it is not possible to identify what terms would apply to a comparable



arm's-length transaction with a Person not an Affiliate, such transaction shall be upon such terms as shall be fair and reasonable
under the circumstances.

Section 11.14. Compliance with Laws. The Company will promptly comply in all material respects, and will cause each Subsidiary
to comply in all material respects, with all laws, ordinances or governmental rules and regulations to which it is subject including,
without limitation, the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, as amended, ERISA and all laws, ordinances, governmental
rules and regulations relating to environmental protection in all applicable jurisdictions, the violation of which would materially
and adversely affect the properties, business, prospects, or financial condition of the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole
would result in any Lien not permitted under Section 11.3.

Section 12. Information as to the Company.

Section 12.1. Accounting; Financial Statements and Other Information. The Company will deliver (in duplicate) to each Purchaser,
so long as it is the holder of any Notes, and to each Institutional Holder of at least 5% in principal amount of the Notes at the time
outstanding:

(a) as soon as available but in any event within ninety (90) days after the end of each of the first three quarterly fiscal
periods in each year of the Company, a consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its Subsidiaries at the end of
such period, and a consolidated statement of earnings and retained earnings of the Company and its Subsidiaries for
such period and for the portion of the fiscal year ending with such period, together with a statement of cash flows for
the portion of the fiscal year ending with such period, in each case setting forth in comparative form figures for the
corresponding period of the previous year, all in reasonable detail and certified, subject to changes resulting from year-
end and audit adjustments, by the Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer of the Company;

(b) as soon as available but in any event within one hundred twenty (120) days after the end of each fiscal year of the
Company, a consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its Subsidiaries as at the end of such year, and a
consolidated statement of earnings and retained earnings and cash flows of the Company and its Subsidiaries, in each
case setting forth in comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year, all in reasonable detail and accompanied
by a report thereon of Grant Thornton or other independent public accountants of recognized national standing selected
by the Company to the effect that such financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles applied on a basis consistent with the prior fiscal year (except for such changes, if any, as may be
specified in such opinion) and fairly present, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the
Company and its Subsidiaries as of the end of such year and the consolidated results of operations for such year, and
that the examination by such accountants in connection with such financial statements has been made in accordance
with generally accepted auditing standards;

(c) as soon as available but in any event within ninety (90) days after the end of each of the first three quarterly fiscal
periods in each year of Unitil, a balance sheet of Unitil at the end of such period, and a statement of earnings and
retained earnings of Unitil for such period and for the portion of the fiscal year ending with such period, together with
a statement of cash flows for the portion of the fiscal year ending with such period, in each case setting forth in
comparative form figures for the corresponding period of the previous year, all in reasonable detail and certified,
subject to changes resulting from year-end and audit adjustments, by the Treasurer, an Assistant Treasurer or any Vice
President of Unitil;

(d) as soon as available but in any event within one hundred twenty (120) days after the end of the fiscal year of Unitil,
a balance sheet of Unitil as at the end of such year, and a consolidated statement of earnings and retained earnings and
cash flows of Unitil, in each case setting forth in comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year, all in
reasonable detail and accompanied by a report thereon of Grant Thornton or other independent public accountants of
recognized national standing selected by Unitil to the effect that such financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles applied on a basis consistent with the prior fiscal year
(except for such changes, if any, as may be specified in such opinion) and fairly present, in all material respects, the
financial position of Unitil as of the end of such year and the results of operations for such year, and that the
examination by such accountants in connection with such financial statements has been made in accordance with
generally accepted auditing standards;

(e) concurrently with delivery of the documents provided for in Sections 12.1(a) and (b), an Officer's Certificate,
stating that the officer providing the certificate has reviewed the provisions of this Agreement and setting forth whether
there existed as of the date of such financial statements and whether, to the best of such officer's knowledge, there
exists on the date of the certificate or existed at any time during the period covered by such financial statements any
Default or Event of Default and, if any such condition or event exists on the date of the certificate, specifying the
nature and period of existence thereof and the action the Company is taking and proposes to take with respect thereto;

(f) promptly after the same are available, copies of all proxy statements, financial statements and reports as the
Company or its parent shall send to its public stockholders, and copies of all reports which the Company or its parent
may file with the SEC or any governmental authority at any time substituted therefor; and

(g) such other information relating to the affairs of the Company as a Purchaser or any such holder reasonably may
request from time to time, including, without limitation, written verification (including computations) of compliance
by the Company with the requirements of Section 11.3 through 11.4.



Section 12.2. Inspection. The Company will permit any authorized representatives designated by a Purchaser, so long as it is the
holder of any Notes, or by each Institutional Holder which holds at least 50% in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding, at
such Purchaser's or such Institutional Holder's expense, to visit and inspect any of the Properties of the Company or any Subsidiary
including its books of account, to make copies and take extracts therefrom and to discuss their respective affairs, finances and
accounts with their respective officers and independent public accountants (and by this provision the Company authorizes such
accountants to discuss with such Purchaser or any such other Institutional Holder the finances and affairs of the Company or any
Subsidiary in the presence of an officer of the Company), all at such reasonable times during customary business hours and as often
as may reasonably be requested; provided, that such Purchaser agree s and any such Institutional Holder by its acquisition of any
Notes shall be deemed to agree to keep confidential any nonpublic information received as a result of the rights granted in this
Section 12.2, except that each such holder of the Notes reserves the right to disclose such information (i) as may be appropriate in
connection with enforcing compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, (ii) as may be required to governmental
agencies, courts or other agencies to whose regulation such holder may be subject but only to the extent that such agencies or courts
are authorized by or have apparent authority under applicable law, regulation, court order or other regulatory authority to request
such information and (iii) as may be necessary to furnish to a prospective bona fide purchaser of any of the Notes, any of such
information which, in the reasonable opinion of the holder of such Notes, is a material fact regarding the Company, provided, that
disclosure of any suc h information may be made to no more than two such prospective purchasers in any thirty day period, each
such prospective purchaser must be eligible to be an Institutional Holder should it purchase Notes, and the amount of Notes which
would be involved in a sale to any such prospective purchaser is at least 5% of the then-outstanding Notes.

Section 13. Defaults.

Section 13.1. Events of Default; Acceleration. If any one or more of the following conditions or events ("Events of Default") shall
occur:

(a) default shall occur in the payment of interest on any Note when the same becomes due and payable, and such
default shall have continued for more than five (5) days; or

(b) default shall occur in the making of any required redemption of any of the Notes as provided in Section 10.1, or in
the making of any other payment of principal of any Note or the premium thereon at the expressed or any accelerated
maturity date or at any date fixed for redemption; or

(c) the Company shall default in the performance of or compliance with any term contained in Sections 11.3, 11.4,
11.5, 11.6 or 11.11; or

(d) the Company shall default in the performance of or compliance with any term contained herein other than those
referred to above in this Section 13 and such default shall not have been remedied within thirty (30) days after the
earlier of (i) the day on which the President, Treasurer or a Senior or Executive Vice President first obtains knowledge
of such default or (ii) the date on which written notice thereof shall have been given to the Company by any holder of
any Note; or

(e) any representation or warranty made in writing by or on behalf of the Company herein or pursuant hereto or in
connection with the consummation of the issuance and delivery of the Notes shall have been false or incorrect in any
material respect at the time as of which made; or

(f) the Company or any Subsidiary shall default (as principal or guarantor or other surety) in the payment of any
principal of or premium, if any, or interest on any Indebtedness for borrowed money (other than the Notes) the
aggregate outstanding principal balance of which shall then exceed $5,000,000 and such default shall continue for
more than the period of grace, if any, specified therein and shall not have been waived pursuant thereto; or the
Company or any Subsidiary shall default in the performance of or compliance with any term of any evidence of such
Indebtedness for borrowed money or of any mortgage, indenture or any other agreement relating thereto and the effect
of such default is to permit the acceleration of the maturity of such Indebtedness for borrowed money prior to its stated
maturity or prior to its regularly scheduled dates of payment; or

(g) the Company or any Subsidiary shall commence a voluntary case under the federal bankruptcy laws or take
advantage of any insolvency law, or shall admit in writing its insolvency or its inability to pay its debts as they become
due, or shall make an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or shall apply for, consent to or acquiesce in the
appointment of, or taking possession by, a trustee, receiver, custodian or similar official or agent for itself or any
substantial part of its Property, or shall take any corporate action authorizing or seeking to effect any of the foregoing,
or shall generally not pay its debts as they become due; or

(h) a trustee, receiver, custodian or similar official or agent shall be appointed for the Company or any Subsidiary by a
court or other governmental authority or agency having jurisdiction in the premises or for any substantial part of its
Property, and is not discharged for a period of thirty (30) days from the date of its entry, or all or any substantial part of
the Property of the Company or any Subsidiary is condemned by eminent domain, seized or otherwise appropriated by
any such governmental authority; or

(i) the Company or any Subsidiary shall have a court order or decree for relief in any involuntary case under the federal
bankruptcy laws entered against it, and such court order or decree shall remain undismissed and unstayed for sixty (60)
days, or a petition seeking reorganization, readjustment, arrangement, composition, or other similar relief as to it under



the federal bankruptcy laws or any similar law for the relief of debtors shall be brought against it and shall be
consented to by it or shall remain undismissed and unstayed for sixty (60) days; or

(j) one or more final judgments for payment of money exceeding in the aggregate $5,000,000 (in excess of insurance
available therefor) shall be rendered against the Company or any Subsidiary and shall remain undischarged for a period
of sixty (60) days during which execution shall not be effectively stayed;

then, and in the event that any Event of Default described in subdivisions (a) through (f), (h) or (j) has occurred and is continuing,
any holder or holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the Notes at the time outstanding may at any time (unless all defaults
shall theretofore have been remedied) at its or their option, by written notice or notices to the Company, declare all of the Notes to
be due and payable, whereupon the same shall forthwith mature and become due and payable, together with premium, if any, and
interest accrued thereon, without presentment, demand, protest or notice, all of which are hereby waived, provided that during the
existence of an Event of Default described in subdivision (a) or (b) of this Section 13.1, and irrespective of whether the holder or
holders of at least 25% in principal amount of Notes then outstanding have declared all the Notes to be due and payable, any holder
of Notes which has not consented to any waiver with respect to such E vent of Default may, at its option, by written notice to the
Company, declare the Notes then held by such holder to be due and payable, whereupon the same shall forthwith become due and
payable, together with premium, if any, and interest accrued thereon, without presentment, demand, protest or notice, all of which
are hereby waived. When any Event of Default described in subdivisions (g) or (i) of Section 13.1 has occurred, then all
outstanding Notes shall immediately become due and payable without presentment, demand or notice of any kind. Upon the Notes
becoming due and payable as a result of any Event of Default as aforesaid, the Company will forthwith pay to the holders of the
Notes the entire principal and interest accrued on the Notes and, to the extent not prohibited by applicable law, an amount as
liquidated damages for the loss of the bargain evidenced hereby (and not as a penalty) equal to the Make-Whole Premium
determined as of the date on which the Notes shall so become due and payable. No co urse of dealing on the part of the holder or
holders of any Notes nor any delay or failure on the part of any holder of Notes to exercise any right shall operate as a waiver of
such right or otherwise prejudice such holder's rights, powers and remedies. If any holder of any Note shall give any notice or take
any other action with respect to a claimed default under this Agreement, or if any Person shall give notice to the Company or take
any other action with respect to a claimed default of the type referred to in subdivision (f) of this Section 13.1, the Company will
forthwith give written notice thereof to all holders of the Notes at the time outstanding, describing the notice or action and the
nature of the claimed default.

Section 13.2. Remedies on Default; Etc. In case any one or more Events of Default shall occur and be continuing, the holder of any
Note at the time outstanding may proceed to protect and enforce the rights of such holder by an action at law, suit in equity or other
appropriate proceeding, whether for the specific performance of any agreement contained herein or in such Note, or for an
injunction against a violation of any of the terms hereof or thereof, or in aid of the exercise of any power granted hereby or thereby
by law. The Company further agrees, to the extent permitted by law, to pay to the holder or holders of the Notes all reasonable costs
and expenses incurred by them in the collection of any Notes upon any default hereunder or thereon, including reasonable
compensation to such holder's or holders' attorneys for all services rendered in connection therewith. No course of dealing and no
delay on the part of any holder of any Note in exercising any right shall operate as a waiver thereof or otherwise prejudice such
holder's rights, powers or remedies. No right, power or remedy conferred by this Agreement or by any Note upon any holder
thereof shall be exclusive of any other right, power or remedy referred to herein or therein or now or hereafter available at law, in
equity, by statute or otherwise.

Section 13.3. Rescission of Acceleration. The provisions of Section 13.1 are subject to the condition that if the principal of and
accrued interest on all or any outstanding Notes have been declared immediately due and payable by reason of the occurrence of
any Event of Default described in subdivisions (a) through (f), (h) or (j) of Section 13.1, the holders of 66-2/3% in aggregate
principal amount of the Notes then outstanding may, by written instrument filed with the Company, rescind and annul such
declaration and the consequences thereof, provided that at the time such declaration is annulled and rescinded:

(a) no judgment or decree has been entered for the payment of any monies due pursuant to the Notes or this
Agreement;

(b) all arrears of interest upon all the Notes and all other sums payable under the Notes and under this Agreement
(except any principal, interest or premium on the Notes which has become due and payable solely by reason of such
declaration under Section 13.1) shall have been duly paid; and

(c) each and every other Default and Event of Default shall have been made good, cured or waived pursuant to Section
17;

and provided further, that no such rescission and annulment shall extend to or affect any subsequent Default or Event of Default or
impair any right consequent thereto.

Section 14. Definitions; Accounting Principles.

Section 14.1. Definitions. As used in this Agreement the following terms have the following respective meanings:

Affiliate: Any director, officer or employee of the Company and any other Person directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by
or under direct or indirect common control with the Company. The term "control" means the possession, directly or indirectly, of
the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of any Person, whether through the ownership of voting
securities, by contract or otherwise.



Code: The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder
from time to time.

Company Reports: The meaning specified in Section 5.7.

Default: Any event or condition the occurrence of which would, with the lapse of time or the giving of notice, or both, constitute an
Event of Default.

Earnings Available For Interest: Of any Person for a period, shall mean the excess of the operating revenues of such Person
received in the ordinary course of business for such period, together with an allowance for funds used during construction in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and net non-operating income (loss), over the sum of all operating
expenses, including taxes and adequate and reasonable allowances for maintenance, depreciation and retirement of Properties as
charged by such Person, and provision for depletion, obsolescence or amortization of Properties, but excluding, however, any
allowance for Federal and state taxes on income or portions thereof for the period for which earnings are being computed.

ERISA: The Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, and any successor statute of similar import, together
with the regulations thereunder, in each case as in effect from time to time. References to sections of ERISA shall be construed to
also refer to any successor sections.

ERISA Affiliate: Any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) that is treated as a single employer together with the Company
under Section 414 of the Code.

Event of Default: The meaning specified in Section 13.

Funded Indebtedness: Of any Person as of any date as of which the amount thereof is to be determined, shall mean (i) all
Indebtedness of such Person required to be paid more than one year from the date as of which Funded Indebtedness is being
determined and all Indebtedness required to be paid within such year which may be renewed or extended beyond such year
pursuant to the terms of the agreement or instrument under which such Indebtedness was incurred, but there shall be excluded
sinking fund, serial maturity, periodic installment and amortization payments on account of Indebtedness which are required to be
made within such year and (ii) all guaranties of Funded Indebtedness of others described in clause (i) of this definition.

Hydro-Quebec Purchase Power and Interconnection Projects: The projects pursuant to which the Company and approximately
sixty other members of the New England Power Pool have agreed to purchase from Hydro Quebec approximately 33 million
megawatt hours ("MWh") of electricity between 1986 and 1997, and approximately 70 million MWh of electricity between 1990
and 2001, as such agreements may be extended, renewed or replaced.

Indebtedness: Of any Person as of any date as of which the amount thereof is to be determined, shall mean all (i) obligations of
such Person for borrowed money, (ii) obligations secured by any Lien upon Property or assets owned by such Person, even though
such Person has not assumed or become liable for the payment of such obligations, and (iii) obligations created or arising under any
conditional sale or other title retention agreement with respect to Property acquired by such Person, notwithstanding the fact that
the rights and remedies of the seller, lender or lessor under such agreement in the event of default are limited to repossession or sale
of Property; provided, that notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing, Indebtedness of the Company shall not
include (A) its obligations under contracts for the purchase by it of gas (including propane and liquefied natural gas) or electric
energy or capacity, including transmission charges, (B) obl igations not in excess of $6,000,000 in the aggregate at any time
outstanding incurred in connection with agreements for the financing of gas, nuclear and other fuel inventories and cushion gas, (C)
Lease obligations of the Company or any Subsidiary, (D) pension and other obligations of the Company or any Subsidiary with
respect to benefits provided to employees of the Company and its Subsidiaries, regardless of whether such obligations are absolute
or contingent or included, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, in determining total liabilities as shown on
the liability side of a balance sheet of the Company, and (E) obligations relating to the sale of generating assets and power purchase
entitlements as provided for in the Company's restructuring plan filed with the Massachusetts Department of Telecommunications
and Energy on December 31, 1997.

Institutional Holder: Any insurance company, bank, savings and loan association, trust company, investment company, charitable
foundation, employee benefit plan (as defined in ERISA) or other institutional investor or financial institution.

Lease: As applied to any Person shall mean any lease of any Property (whether real, personal or mixed) by that Person as lessee
which would, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, be required to be accounted for as a capital lease or an
operating lease on the financial statements of that Person.

Lien: (i) Any interest in Property (whether real, personal or mixed and whether tangible or intangible) which secures an obligation
owed to, or a claim by, a Person other than the owner of such Property, whether such interest is based on the common law, statute
or contract, including, without limitation, any such interest arising from a mortgage, charge, pledge, security agreement, conditional
sale or trust receipt, or arising from a lease, consignment or bailment given for security purposes, (ii) any encumbrance upon such
Property which does not secure an obligation and (iii) any exception to or defect in the title to or ownership interest in such
Property, including, without limitation, reservations, rights of entry, possibilities of reverter, encroachments, easements, rights of
way, restrictive covenants, leases, licenses and profits a prendre. For purposes of this Agreement, the Company or a Subsidiary
shall be deemed to be the owner of any Property which it has acquire d or holds subject to a conditional sales agreement or other
arrangement pursuant to which title to the Property has been retained by or vested in some other Person for security purposes.



Make-Whole Premium: In connection with any redemption or acceleration of the Notes the excess, if any, of (i) the aggregate
present value as of the date of such redemption or acceleration of each dollar of principal being prepaid (taking into account the
application of each redemption required by Section 10.1) and the amount of interest (exclusive of interest accrued to the date of
redemption) that would have been payable in respect of each dollar if such redemption had not been made, determined by
discounting such amounts at the Reinvestment Rate from the respective dates on which they would have been payable to the date of
such redemption or acceleration, over (ii) 100% of the principal amount of the outstanding Notes being redeemed. If the
Reinvestment Rate is equal to or higher than 7.98%, the Make-Whole Premium shall be zero. For purposes of any determination of
the Make-Whole Premium:

"Reinvestment Rate" shall mean (1) the sum of 0.50%, plus the yield reported on page "USD" of the Bloomberg
Financial Markets Services Screen (or, if not available, any other nationally recognized trading screen reporting on-line
intraday trading in United States Government Securities at 11:00 a.m. (New York City time) for the United States
Government Securities having a maturity (rounded to the nearest month) corresponding to the Weighted Average Life
to Maturity of the principal being redeemed (taking into account the application of each redemption required by
Section 10.1) or (2) in the event that no nationally recognized trading screen reporting on-line intraday trading in the
United States Government Securities is available, Reinvestment Rate shall mean the sum of 0.50% plus the arithmetic
mean of the yields for the two columns under the heading "Week Ending" published in the Statistical Release under the
caption "Treasury Constant Maturities" for t he maturity (rounded to the nearest month) corresponding to the Weighted
Average Life to Maturity of the principal being redeemed (taking into account the application of each redemption
required by Section 10.1). If no maturity exactly corresponds to such Weighted Average Life to Maturity, yields for the
published maturity next longer than the Weighted Average Life to Maturity and for the published maturity next shorter
than the Weighted Average Life to Maturity shall be calculated pursuant to the immediately preceding sentence and the
Reinvestment Rate shall be interpolated from such yields on a straight-line basis, rounding in each of such relevant
periods to the nearest month. For the purposes of calculating the Reinvestment Rate, the most recent Statistical Release
published prior to the date of determination of the Make-Whole Premium shall be used

"Statistical Release" shall mean the then most recently published statistical release designated "H.15(519)" or any
successor publication which is published weekly by the Federal Reserve System and which establishes yields on
actively traded U.S. Government Securities adjusted to constant maturities or, if such statistical release is not published
at the time of any determination hereunder, then such other reasonably comparable index which shall be designated by
the holders of 66-2/3% in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes.

"Weighted Average Life to Maturity" of the principal amount of the Notes being redeemed shall mean, as of the time of
any determination thereof, the number of years obtained by dividing the then Remaining Dollar-Years of such principal
by the aggregate amount of such principal. The term "Remaining Dollar-Years" of such principal shall mean the
amount obtained by (i) multiplying (x) the remainder of (1) the amount of principal that would have become due on
each scheduled payment date if such redemption had not been made, less (2) the amount of principal on the Notes
scheduled to become due on such date after giving effect to such redemption and the application thereof in accordance
with the provisions of Section 10.1, by (y) the number of years (calculated to the nearest one-twelfth) which will elapse
between the date of determination and such scheduled payment date, and (ii) totalling the products obtained in (i).

Material: Material in relation to the business, operations, affairs, financial condition, assets, or properties of the Company and its
Subsidiaries taken as a whole.

Material Adverse Effect: A material adverse effect on (a) the business, operations, affairs, financial condition, assets or properties
of the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole, or (b) the ability of the Company to perform its obligations under this
Agreement and the Notes, or (c) the validity or enforceability of this Agreement or the Notes.

MDTE: The meaning specified in Section 4.4.

Multiemployer Plan: Any Plan that is a "multiemployer plan" (as such term is defined in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA).

Net Income (Deficit): The amount of net income (or if such Net Income is a deficit, the amount of such deficit) of the Company and
its Subsidiaries for the period in question (taken as a cumulative whole), as determined in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles; provided, however, that any gain or loss from sales or other dispositions (i) of generating assets and power
purchase entitlements as provided for in the Company's restructuring plan filed with the Massachusetts Department of
Telecommunications and Energy on December 31, 1997, shall be excluded from the calculation of Net Income (Deficit) and (ii) of
any other Property which was previously used in the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries, which sales or dispositions
occurred during the twelve month period immediately preceding the date as of which Net Income (Deficit) is being determined, the
book value of which Property represents in the aggregate more than 10% of Tangible Assets (determined as of the end of the
immediately preceding fiscal year of the Company), shall be excluded from the calculation of Net Income (Deficit); and provided,
further, that the foregoing proviso shall create no implication that gain or loss from the sale or other disposition of Property of the
Company and its Subsidiaries shall be included in determining Net Income (Deficit), unless such inclusion is otherwise in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Officers' Certificate: A certificate signed by the Chairman of the Board of Directors, the President or any Vice President and by the
Treasurer, any Assistant Treasurer, the Clerk or an Assistant Clerk of the Company.



Opinion of Counsel: An opinion in writing signed by legal counsel, who shall be reasonably satisfactory to the Purchasers and to
the holders of at least 50% of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes then outstanding, and who may be counsel to the
Company.

PBGC: The Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation referred to and defined in ERISA or any successor thereto.

Person: An individual, an association, a corporation, a partnership, a trust or estate, a government, foreign or domestic, and any
agency or political subdivision thereof, or any other entity, including the Company and any Subsidiary.

Plan: An "employee benefit plan" (as defined in section 3(3) of ERISA) that is or, within the preceding five years, has been
established or maintained, or to which contributions are or, within the preceding five years, have been made or required to be made,
by the Company or any ERISA Affiliate or with respect to which the Company or any ERISA Affiliate may have any liability.

Property: Any kind of property or asset, whether real, personal or mixed, or tangible or intangible.

Subsidiary: Any corporation or other entity at least a majority of the outstanding voting shares of which is at the time owned (either
alone or through Subsidiaries or together with Subsidiaries) by the Company or another Subsidiary.

Tangible Assets: As of the date of any determination thereof the total amount of all assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries (less
depreciation, depletion and other properly deductible valuation reserves) after deducting good will, patents, trade names, trade
marks, copyrights, experimental expense, and the excess of cost of shares acquired over book value of related assets.

Total Capitalization: At any date means the sum of (x) Funded Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries, and (y) the
aggregate amount for total common stock equity, preference stock and preferred stock as presented in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles on a consolidated balance sheet of the Company as of such date; provided, however, that any
securities or Funded Indebtedness to be redeemed from the proceeds of the incurrence of Funded Indebtedness as provided for in
Section 11.4(c) hereof, which have not yet been so redeemed, shall not be included in the determination of Total Capitalization.

Unitil shall mean Unitil Corporation, owner of all of the outstanding stock of the Company.

Section 14.2. Accounting Principles. Where the character or amount of any asset or liability or item of income or expense is
required to be determined or any consolidation or other accounting computation is required to be made for the purposes of this
Agreement, the same shall be done in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles then in effect, to the extent
applicable, except where such principles are inconsistent with the requirements of this Agreement.

Section 15. Expenses; Etc.

Whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby shall be consummated, the Company will pay all reasonable expenses in
connection with such transactions and in connection with any amendments or waivers (whether or not the same become effective)
under or in respect of this Agreement or the Notes, including, without limitation: (a) the cost and expenses of reproducing this
Agreement, of the reproducing and issue of the Notes, of furnishing all opinions of counsel for the Company and all certificates on
behalf of the Company, and of the Company's performance of and compliance with all agreements and conditions contained herein
on its part to be performed or complied with; (b) the cost of delivering to the principal office of each Purchaser, insured to its
satisfaction, any Notes delivered to it upon any substitution of Notes pursuant to Section 8 and of each Purchaser's delivering any
Notes, insured to its satisfaction, upon any such substitution; (c) the reasonable fees, expenses and disbursements of Chapman and
Cutler, special counsel for the Purchasers, in connection with such transactions and any such amendments or waivers; and (d) the
reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by a Purchaser in connection with such transactions and any such amendments or
waivers. The Company will indemnify and hold each Purchaser harmless from and against all claims in respect of the fees, if any,
of brokers and finders payable in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the carrying out of the
transactions contemplated hereby. The Company will also pay, and will save each Purchaser and each holder of any Notes harmless
from, any and all liabilities with respect to any taxes (including interest and penalties) which may be payable in respect of the
execution and delivery of this Agreement, the issue of the Notes and any amendment or waiver under or in respect of this
Agreement or the Notes.

Section 16. Survival of Agreements; Etc.

All agreements contained herein and all representations and warranties made in writing by or on behalf of the Company herein or
pursuant hereto shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement, any investigation at any time made by a Purchaser or on
its behalf, the purchase of the Notes by a Purchaser hereunder, and any disposition or payment of the Notes. All statements
contained in any certificate or other instrument delivered by or on behalf of the Company pursuant hereto or in connection with the
transactions contemplated hereby shall be deemed representations and warranties made by the Company hereunder.

Section 17. Amendments and Waivers.

Any term of this Agreement or of the Notes may be amended and the observance of any term hereof or thereof may be waived
(either generally or in a particular instance and either retroactively or prospectively) only with the written consent of the Company
and the holders of at least 66-2/3% in principal amount of the Notes at the time outstanding, provided that, without the prior written
consent of the holders of all the Notes at the time outstanding, no such amendment or waiver shall (a) change the time of payment
(including any prepayment required by Section 10.1) of the principal of or the interest on any Note or change the principal amount



thereof or change the rate of interest thereon, or (b) change any of the provisions with respect to optional prepayments, or
(c) reduce the aforesaid percentage of the principal amount of the Notes the holders of which are required to consent to any such
amendment or waiver, or (d) change the provisions of Section  13 giving each holder of any Note the right, without joining any
other such holders of the Notes, to declare the Notes held by such holder due and payable as provided in Section 13. Any
amendment or waiver effected in accordance with this Section 17 shall be binding upon each holder of any Note at the time
outstanding, each future holder of any Note and the Company. Notes directly or indirectly held by the Company or any Affiliate of
the Company shall not be deemed outstanding for purposes of determining whether any amendment or waiver has been effected in
accordance with this Section 17.

Section 18. Notices; Etc.

All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be mailed by certified mail, return receipt requested
or overnight courier, (a) if to a Purchaser, addressed to the address of such Purchaser designated as the Purchaser's address on
Schedule I attached hereto, or at such other address as such Purchaser shall have furnished to the Company in writing, except that
payments on any Note and notices in respect thereof shall be made and sent as provided in Section 9, or at such other address as
such Purchaser shall have furnished to the Company for such purpose, or (b) if to any other holder of any Note, at the registered
address of such holder as set forth in the register kept by the Company as provided in Section 8, or (c) if to the Company, to 6
Liberty Lane West, Hampton, New Hampshire 03842, Attention: Treasurer, or at such other address as the Company shall have
furnished to each Purchaser and each such other holder in writing.

Section 19. Further Assurances.

The Company will execute and deliver all such instruments and take all such action as the Purchasers from time to time may
reasonably request in order to further effectuate the purposes and carry out the terms of this Agreement and the Notes.

Section 20. Miscellaneous.

This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the respective successors and assigns of the
parties hereto, whether so expressed or not, and, in particular, shall inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by any holder or
holders at the time of the Notes or any part thereof. This Agreement embodies the entire agreement and understanding between
each Purchaser and the Company and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings relating to the subject matter hereof. This
Agreement and the Notes shall be construed and enforced in accordance with and governed by the laws of the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts. The headings in this Agreement are for purposes of reference only and shall not limit or otherwise affect the
meaning hereof. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original, but all of
which together shall constitute one instrument.

Section 21. Severability.

Should any part of this Agreement for any reason be declared invalid or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the validity or
enforceability of any remaining portion, which remaining portion shall remain in force and effect as if this Agreement had been
executed with the invalid or unenforceable portion thereof eliminated and it is hereby declared the intention of the parties hereto
that they would have executed the remaining portion of this Agreement without including therein any such part, parts or portion
which may, for any reason, be hereafter declared invalid or unenforceable.

The execution by the Purchasers shall constitute a contract among the Company and the Purchasers for the uses and purposes
hereinabove set forth. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each executed counterpart constituting an
original but all together only one agreement.

Fitchburg Gas and Electric Light Company
By  /s/ Mark H. Collin
Name: Mark H. Collin
Title: Treasurer

 

Accepted as of June 1, 2001:

Connecticut General Life Insurance
Company
 

By: CIGNA Investments, Inc.
(authorized agent)
 

By /s/ Lawrence A. Drake
   Name: Lawrence A. Drake
   Title: Managing Director
 



INA Life Insurance Company of New York
 

By: CIGNA Investments, Inc.
(authorized agent)
 

By /s/ Lawrence A. Drake
   Name: Lawrence A. Drake
   Title: Managing Director
 
The Canada Life Assurance Company
 
By /s/ C. Paul English
Name: C. Paul English
Title: Associate Treasurer
 
Canada Life Insurance Company of
America
 
By /s/ C. Paul English
Name: C. Paul English
Title: Assistant Treasurer

 

 

Information Relating to Purchaser

 

Name and Address of Purchaser                                                                               Principal Amount of Notes to be Purchased

 

Connecticut General Life Insurance Company                                                                     $6,500,000
c/o CIGNA Investments, Inc.
900 Cottage Grove Road
Hartford, Connecticut 06152-2307
Attention: Private Securities Division - S-307
Fax: 860-726-7203

Payments

All payments on or in respect of the Notes to be by bank wire transfer of Federal or other immediately available funds (identifying
each payment as "Fitchburg Gas and Electric Light Company, 7.98% Notes due June 1, 2031, PPN 338135D * 4" and identifying
the breakdown of principal and interest and the payment date) to:

Chase NYC/CTR/
BNF=CIGNA Private Placements/AC=9009001802
ABA #021000021

Address for Notices Related to Payments:

CIG & Co.
c/o CIGNA Investments, Inc.
Attention: Securities Processing S-309
900 Cottage Grove Road
Hartford, Connecticut 06152-2309
 
CIG & Co.
c/o CIGNA Investments, Inc.
Attention: Private Securities - S-307
Operations Group
900 Cottage Grove Road
Hartford, Connecticut 06152-2307
Fax: 860-726-7203
 



with a copy to:
 
Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A.
Private Placement Servicing
P. O. Box 1508
Bowling Green Station
New York, New York 10081
Attention: CIGNA Private Placements
Fax: 212-552-3107/1005

 

Address for All Other Notices:

 

CIG & Co.
c/o CIGNA Investments, Inc.
Attention: Private Securities Division - S-307
900 Cottage Grove Road
Hartford, Connecticut 06152-2307
Fax: 860-726-7203

 

Name of Nominee in which Notes are to be issued: CIG & Co.

Taxpayer I.D. Number for CIG & Co.: 13-3574027

 

 

 

Name and Address of Purchaser                                                                             Principal Amount of Notes to be Purchased

 

INA Life Insurance Company of New York                                                                     $3,000,000
c/o CIGNA Investments, Inc.
900 Cottage Grove Road
Hartford, Connecticut 06152-2307
Attention: Private Securities Division - S-307
Fax: 860-726-7203

Payments

All payments on or in respect of the Notes to be by bank wire transfer of Federal or other immediately available funds (identifying
each payment as "Fitchburg Gas and Electric Light Company, 7.98% Notes due June 1, 2031, PPN 338135 D * 4" and identifying
the breakdown of principal and interest and the payment date) to:

Chase NYC/CTR/
BNF=CIGNA Private Placements/AC=9009001802
ABA #021000021

Address for Notices Related to Payments:

CIG & Co.
c/o CIGNA Investments, Inc.
Attention: Securities Processing S-309
900 Cottage Grove Road
Hartford, Connecticut 06152-2206
 
CIG & Co.
c/o CIGNA Investments, Inc.
Attention: Private Securities - S-307
Operations Group
900 Cottage Grove Road
Hartford, Connecticut 06152-2307



Fax: 860-726-7203
 
with a copy to:
 
Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A.
Private Placement Servicing
P. O. Box 1508
Bowling Green Station
New York, New York 10081
Attention: CIGNA Private Placements
Fax: 212-552-3107/1005

 

Address for All Other Notices:

 
CIG & Co.
c/o CIGNA Investments, Inc.
Attention: Private Securities Division - S-307
900 Cottage Grove Road
Hartford, Connecticut 06152-2307
Fax: 860-726-7203

Name of Nominee in which Notes are to be issued: CIG & Co.

Taxpayer I.D. Number for CIG & Co.: 13-3574027

 

 

Name and Address of Purchaser                                                                              Principal Amount of Notes to be Purchased

 

The Canada Life Assurance Company                                                                         $1,500,000
330 University Avenue, SP-11
Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5G 1R8
Attention: Paul English, U.S. Investments Division

Payments

All payments on or in respect of the Notes to be by bank wire transfer of Federal or other immediately available funds to:

Chase Manhattan Bank
ABA #021-000-021
Account No. 900-9-000200
Trust Account No. G08808
Reference: Private Placement Number, Name of Issuer and description, and Principal and Interest payment

 
Notices
 
Notices with respect to payments and written confirmation of each such payment, to be addressed:

 
Chase Manhattan Bank
North American Insurance
3 Chase MetroTech Centre - 6th Floor
Brooklyn, NY 11245
Attention: Doll Balbadar
 
with a copy to:
 
The Canada Life Assurance Company
330 University Avenue, SP-12
Securities Accounting
Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5G 1R8



 
All other notices and communications (including financial statements) to be addressed as first provided above.
 
Name of Nominee in which Notes are to be issued: J. Romeo & Co.
 
Taxpayer I.D. Number: 38-0397420
 
 
 
Name and Address of Purchaser                                                                              Principal Amount of Notes to be Purchased
 
 
 
The Canada Life Assurance Company                                                                                 $1,500,000
330 University Avenue, SP-11
Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5G 1R8
Attention: Paul English, U.S. Investments Division
 
Payments
 
All payments on or in respect of the Notes to be by bank wire transfer of Federal or other immediately available funds to:

 
Chase Manhattan Bank
ABA #021-000-021
Account No. 900-9-000200
Trust Account No. G52708
Reference: Private Placement Number, Name of Issuer and description, and Principal and Interest payment

 

Notices

Notices with respect to payments and written confirmation of each such payment, to be addressed:

 
Chase Manhattan Bank
North American Insurance
3 Chase MetroTech Centre - 6th Floor
Brooklyn, NY 11245
Attention: Doll Balbadar
 
with a copy to:
 
The Canada Life Assurance Company
330 University Avenue, SP-12
Securities Accounting
Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5G 1R8

 
All other notices and communications (including financial statements) to be addressed as first provided above.
 
Name of Nominee in which Notes are to be issued: J. Romeo & Co.
 
Taxpayer I.D. Number: 38-0397420
 
 

 

Name and Address of Purchaser                                                                                   Principal Amount of Notes to be Purchased

 

The Canada Life Assurance Company                                                                     $500,000
330 University Avenue, SP-11
Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5G 1R8
Attention: Paul English, U.S. Investments Division
 



Payments
 
All payments on or in respect of the Notes to be by bank wire transfer of Federal or other immediately available funds to:

 
Chase Manhattan Bank
ABA #021-000-021
Account No. 900-9-000200
Trust Account No. G08798
Reference: Private Placement Number, Name of Issuer and description, and Principal and Interest payment

 
Notices
 
Notices with respect to payments and written confirmation of each such payment, to be addressed:

 
Chase Manhattan Bank
North American Insurance
3 Chase MetroTech Centre - 6th Floor
Brooklyn, NY 11245
Attention: Doll Balbadar
 
with a copy to:
 
The Canada Life Assurance Company
330 University Avenue, SP-12
Securities Accounting
Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5G 1R8

All other notices and communications (including financial statements) to be addressed as first provided above.
 
Name of Nominee in which Notes are to be issued: J. Romeo & Co.
 
Taxpayer I.D. Number: 38-0397420
 
 

Name and Address of Purchaser                                                                                   Principal Amount of Notes to be Purchased

Canada Life Insurance Company of America                                                         $1,000,000
330 University Avenue, SP-11
Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5G 1R8
Attention: Paul English, U.S. Investments Division
 
Payments
 
All payments on or in respect of the Notes to be by bank wire transfer of Federal or other immediately available funds to:

Chase Manhattan Bank
ABA #021-000-021
Account No. 900-9-000200
Trust Account No. G52709
Reference: Private Placement Number, Name of Issuer and description, and Principal and Interest payment

Notices

Notices with respect to payments and written confirmation of each such payment, to be addressed:

Chase Manhattan Bank
North American Insurance
3 Chase MetroTech Centre - 6th Floor
Brooklyn, NY 11245
Attention: Doll Balbadar
 
with a copy to:
 
The Canada Life Assurance Company



330 University Avenue, SP-12
Securities Accounting
Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5G 1R8

All other notices and communications (including financial statements) to be addressed as first provided above.
 
Name of Nominee in which Notes are to be issued: J. Romeo & Co.
 
Taxpayer I.D. Number: 38-2816473
 
 
 

Fitchburg Gas and Electric Light Company

Funded Indebtedness Outstanding
as of March 31, 2001

 
Issue Total Amount Outstanding

8.55% Notes due March 31, 2004 $9,000,000
6.75% Notes due November 30, 2023 $19,000,000
7.37% Notes due January 15, 2029 $12,000,000

Total Funded Indebtedness $40,000,000

 

 

 

Fitchburg Gas and Electric Light Company
 

7.98% Note due June 1, 2031
 

$______________ PPN: 338135 D* 4

No._______________ _________, 2001

Fitchburg Gas and Electric Light Company (the "Company"), a Massachusetts corporation, for value received, hereby promises to
pay to _______________ or registered assigns the principal sum of _________________ Dollars ($__________) on June 1, 2031;
and to pay interest (computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months) on the unpaid principal balance hereof from
the date of this Note at the rate of 7.98% per annum, semi-annually on the first day of June and December in each year,
commencing with December 1, 2001, until the principal amount hereof shall become due and payable. The Company agrees to pay
interest on overdue principal (including any overdue required or optional prepayment of principal) and premium, if any, and (to the
extent legally enforceable) on any overdue installment of interest, at the rate of 9.98% per annum after the due date, whether by
acceleration or otherwise, until paid.

Payments of principal, premium, if any, and interest shall be made in such coin or currency of the United States of America as at
the time of payment is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts by check mailed and addressed to the registered
holder hereof at the address shown in the register maintained by the Company for such purpose, or, at the option of the holder
hereof, in such manner and at such other place in the United States of America as the holder hereof shall have designated to the
Company in writing.

This Note is one of the 7.98% Notes due June 1, 2031 of the Company issued in an aggregate principal amount limited to
$14,000,000 pursuant to the Company's Note Agreement with the Purchasers named therein dated as of June 1, 2001, and this Note
and the holder hereof are entitled equally and ratably with the holders of all other Notes outstanding under the Note Agreement to
all the benefits provided for thereby or referred to therein. Reference is hereby made to the Note Agreement for a statement of such
rights and benefits.

This Note and the other Notes outstanding under the Note Agreement may be declared due prior to their expressed maturity dates
and certain prepayments are required to be made thereon, all in the events, on the terms and in the manner and amounts as provided
in the Note Agreement.

The Notes are subject to prepayment or redemption at the option of the Company prior to their expressed maturity dates only on the
terms and conditions and in the amounts and with the premium, if any, set forth in the Note Agreement.

This Note is a registered Note and is transferable only by surrender thereof at the principal office of the Company, duly endorsed or
accompanied by a written instrument of transfer duly executed by the registered holder of this Note or his attorney duly authorized



in writing.

Under certain circumstances, as specified in said Agreement, the principal of this Note may be declared due and payable in the
manner and with the effect provided in said Agreement.

This Note and said Agreement are governed by and construed in accordance with the Massachusetts law.

 

Fitchburg Gas and Electric Light Company

By: 

Name:

Title:

 

 

Opinion of Special Counsel for the Purchasers
June ___, 2001

 

Connecticut General Life Insurance Company The Canada Life Assurance Company
c/o CIGNA Investments, Inc. 330 University Avenue, SP-11
900 Cottage Grove Road Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5G 1R8
Hartford, Connecticut 06152
 
INA Life Insurance Company of New York Canada Life Insurance Company of America
c/o CIGNA Investments, Inc. 330 University Avenue, SP-11
900 Cottage Grove Road Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5G 1R8
Hartford, Connecticut 06152
 
 

Re: 7.98% Notes of Fitchburg Gas and Electric Light Company

Due June 1, 2031 (the "Notes")

 

Ladies and Gentlemen:

This opinion is being furnished to each of you pursuant to Section 4.5 of the Note Agreement dated as of June 1, 2001 (the "Note
Agreement") among Fitchburg Gas and Electric Light Company (the "Company") and each of you relating to the issue and sale of
$14,000,000 principal amount of the Notes. We have acted as your special counsel in connection with the foregoing matter and are,
therefore, familiar with the proceedings taken in connection therewith. This opinion is being delivered concurrently with the
delivery of payment for the Notes in accordance with the Note Agreement. Capitalized terms defined in the Note Agreement, when
used herein, have the meanings so defined.

In connection herewith, we have examined originals (or copies certified or otherwise identified to our satisfaction) of

(i) the Note Agreement;

(ii) the form of the Notes;

(iii) the records of corporate proceedings of the Company in connection with the authorization of the execution and
delivery of the Note Agreement and the Notes and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Note
Agreement;

(iv) the Articles of Organization of the Company, including all amendments thereto, certified by the Clerk of the
Company;

(v) Certificate of Good Standing with respect to the Company executed by the Secretary of the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts;

(vi) the order of the Massachusetts Department of Telecommunications and Energy dated May 17, 2001, authorizing
the issuance and sale of the Notes;



(vii) 10-K Report and 10-Q Report; and

(viii) such other instruments, certificates, documents, contracts and records of the Company as we have deemed
necessary or appropriate for the purposes of the opinion rendered hereby.

As to any facts material to our opinion, we have, when relevant facts were not independently established, relied upon the aforesaid
instruments, certificates, documents, contracts and records. We believe that the opinion of LeBoeuf, Lamb, Greene & McRae,
L.L.P., responsive to the Note Agreement, delivered to you herewith and dated the date hereof, is satisfactory in scope and form and
that you are justified in relying thereon. Our opinion as to matters referred to in paragraph 1 below is based solely upon an
examination of the Articles of Organization certified by, and a certificate of good standing of the Company from, the Secretary of
the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and by By-laws of the Company. In rendering our opinion below, we have relied upon the
opinion of LeBoeuf, Lamb, Greene & McRae, L.L.P. with respect to matters of Massachusetts law.

Based upon and subject to the foregoing, we are of the opinion that:

(1) The Company is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts, has corporate power and authority to carry on its business and own its Property and
is duly authorized to enter into and perform the Note Agreement and to issue the Notes and incur the Indebtedness to
be evidenced thereby.

(2) The Note Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Company and constitutes the legal,
valid and binding agreement of the Company enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as enforcement thereof
may be limited by the effect of any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, reorganization,
moratorium or similar laws affecting the rights of creditors generally from time to time in effect, and general principles
of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in equity or at law).

(3) The Notes have been duly authorized by proper corporate action on the part of the Company, have been duly
executed and delivered by authorized officers of the Company and constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of
the Company enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as enforcement thereof may be limited by the effect of
any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws affecting the
rights of creditors generally from time to time in effect, and general principles of equity (regardless of whether such
enforceability is considered in equity or at law).

(4) The issuance, sale and delivery of the Notes under the circumstances contemplated by the Note Agreement are
exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and do not under existing law
require the registration of the Notes under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the qualification of an indenture
in respect thereof under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939.

Very truly yours,
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Re: 7.98% Notes of Fitchburg Gas and Electric Light Company

Due June 1, 2031 (the "Notes")

 

Ladies and Gentlemen:

This opinion is being furnished to each of you pursuant to Section 4.5 of the Note Agreement dated as of June 1, 2001 (the "Note
Agreement") among Fitchburg Gas and Electric Light Company, a Massachusetts corporation (the "Company") and each of you
relating to the issue and sale of $14,000,000 principal amount of the Notes. We have acted as counsel for the Company, in
connection with the foregoing matter and are, therefore, familiar with the proceedings taken in connection therewith. This opinion



is being delivered concurrently with the delivery of payment for the Notes in accordance with the Note Agreement. Capitalized
terms defined in the Note Agreement, when used herein, have the meanings so defined.

In connection herewith, we have examined originals (or copies certified or otherwise identified to our satisfaction) of

(i) the Note Agreement;

(ii) the Notes;

(iii) the records of corporate proceedings of the Company in connection with the authorization of the execution and
delivery of the Note Agreement and the Notes and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Note
Agreement;

(iv) the Articles of Organization and By-Laws of the Company, including all amendments thereto, certified by the
Clerk of the Company;

(v) a Certificate of Good Standing with respect to the Company executed by the Secretary of the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts dated May 17, 2001;

(vi) the order of the Massachusetts Department of Telecommunications and Energy ("MDTE") dated May 17, 2001
authorizing the issuance and sale of the Notes;

(vii) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Unitil Corporation, a New Hampshire Corporation ("Unitil") and Unitil's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2001 (collectively, the "SEC Reports"); and

(viii) such other instruments, certificates, documents, contracts and records of the Company as we have deemed
necessary or appropriate for the purposes of the opinion rendered hereby.

In such examination, we have assumed the genuineness of all signatures (other than the signatures of Company officers), the
authenticity of all documents submitted to us as originals, the conformity to the original documents of all documents submitted to
us as copies, the authenticity of the originals of such latter documents and the legal capacity of all parties to such documents except
the Company. As to questions of fact material to the opinions set forth herein, we have relied, without independent investigation,
upon statements by or certificates of officers and other representatives and agents of the Company, public officials and others and
have examined the representations and warranties contained in the Note Agreement and have relied upon, without independent
verification, the relevant facts stated therein. Wherever we have stated herein that we have relied on certificates, statements,
representations and warranties, we have no independent knowledge of any facts which would cause us to question such reliance.

We also have assumed that each of you has all requisite power and authority and has taken all necessary corporate or other action to
execute and deliver the Note Agreement, to purchase and to hold the Notes and to effect the transactions contemplated by the Note
Agreement.

Based upon and subject to the foregoing, we are of the opinion that:

(1) The Company is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts, has corporate power and authority to carry on its business and own its Property and
is duly authorized to enter into and perform the Note Agreement and to issue the Notes and incur the Indebtedness to
be evidenced thereby.

(2) The Note Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Company and constitutes the legal,
valid and binding agreement of the Company enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as enforcement thereof
may be limited by the effect of any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, reorganization,
moratorium or similar laws affecting the rights of creditors generally from time to time in effect, and general principles
of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in equity or at law).

(3) The Notes have been duly authorized by proper corporate action on the part of the Company, have been duly
executed and delivered by authorized officers of the Company and constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of
the Company enforceable in accordance with their terms, except as enforcement thereof may be limited by the effect of
any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws affecting the
rights of creditors generally from time to time in effect, and general principles of equity (regardless of whether such
enforceability is considered in equity or at law).

(4) The issuance, sale and delivery of the Notes under the circumstances contemplated by the Note Agreement are
exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and do not under existing law
require the qualification of an indenture in respect thereof under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939.

(5) To our knowledge, the Company is duly licensed or qualified and is in good standing as a foreign corporation in
each jurisdiction in which the character of the properties owned or leased by it or the nature of the business transacted
by it makes such licensing or qualification necessary except where the failure so to qualify does not have a material
adverse effect on the condition (financial or other), business, properties, net worth or results of operations of the
Company taken as a whole.



(6) To our knowledge, the issuance and sale of the Notes and the execution, delivery and performance by the Company
of the Note Agreement do not conflict with or result in any breach of any of the provisions of, or constitute a default
under or result in the creation or imposition of any lien upon any of the Property of the Company, under the provisions
of the Articles of Organization or By-Laws of the Company or any agreement or other instrument to which the
Company is a party or by which the Company is bound that is an exhibit to any of the SEC Reports or is known to us
after reasonable inquiry.

(7) The issue and sale of the Notes have to the extent required by law been duly authorized by an order of the MDTE,
such order is in full force and effect, the applicable appeal period with respect to the MDTE order has expired and no
other consent, exemption, approval or authorization by any other governmental authority is required in connection with
the execution and delivery of the Note Agreement or the issue, sale and delivery of the Notes.

(8) Assuming that the proceeds of the sale of the Notes will be used only for the purposes set forth in Section 6 of the
Note Agreement, none of the transactions contemplated in the Note Agreement (including, without limitation thereof,
the use of the proceeds from the sale of the Notes) will violate or result in a violation of Section 7 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or any regulations issued pursuant thereto, including, without limitation,
Regulations U, T and X of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, 12 C.F.R., Chapter II.

(9) To our knowledge, without conducting a search of any dockets, other than as described in the SEC Reports
(including all exhibits and schedules thereto), there are no actions, suits, investigations or proceedings to which the
Company is a party in any court or before any governmental authority which involve the possibility of materially and
adversely affecting the business or condition of the Company or the ability of the Company to perform its obligations
under the Note Agreement or the Notes; and the Company is not, to our knowledge, in default with respect to any
order, judgment or decree of any court or governmental authority.

(10) The Company is subject to the jurisdiction of (i) the MDTE and (ii) the SEC under the Public Utility Holding
Company Act of 1935, as amended.

With respect to our opinions herein rendered to our knowledge, we have based such opinions on a certificate of an officer of the
Company, due inquiry of such officer and other officers of the Company and review of such of the Company's records as may be
identified as relevant in the officer's certificate. We have not undertaken to review all agreements to which the Company may be a
party.

We express no opinion herein as to the laws of any jurisdiction other than the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and the federal law
of the United States of America.

This opinion is furnished by us as counsel to the Company and is solely for the benefit of you, your successors and assigns and
your special counsel, Chapman and Cutler, and may not be relied on by, or may copies be delivered to any other persons without
our express written consent.

Very truly yours,


